
 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 
 

Tuesday, 1 March 2022 
 
 

BISHOPSTOKE, FAIR OAK AND HORTON HEATH LOCAL AREA 
COMMITTEE 

will meet on 
Wednesday, 9 March 2022 

beginning at 
7:00 pm 

in the 
Woodland Community Centre, 55 Savernake Way, Fair Oak, Eastleigh, SO50 8DH – 

directions SO50 7FA 

 
 
TO: Councillor Louise Parker-Jones (Chair) 
 Councillor Ray Dean (Vice-Chair) 
  

Councillor Steven Broomfield 
Councillor Michelle Marsh 
 

Councillor Rob Rushton 
Councillor Gin Tidridge 
 

 
 

Staff Contacts: Laura Johnston, Senior Democratic Services Officer;  Tel:  023 
8068 8041; Email: laura.johnston@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

 Andy Thompson, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 8357; 
Email: andy.thompson@eastleigh.gov.uk 

 
 

 
 

JOANNE CASSAR 
Executive Head of Governance 

 

 
Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website  
as well as in other formats. 

 
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting, 
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To register please 
contact the Democratic Services Officer above. 
 
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording and 
photography at meetings open to the public, and Councillors will be using tablet devices to 
access committee papers. 

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies  
 

2.   Public Participation  
 
Public seating will be limited at this meeting. You can submit questions in 
advance of the meeting to the following email: 
democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk. The deadline for submissions is 12pm on 
Tuesday 8 March 2022.  
 
Please let us know if you wish to attend the meeting in person so that we 
can manage numbers. We are still encouraging all those in attendance to 
wear a face covering and take a lateral flow test before attendance. PLEASE 
DO NOT ATTEND IF YOU HAVE ANY COVID-19 SYMPTOMS. 
 
If you are unable to attend, then an officer of the Council can read a written 
statement on your behalf.  
 

3.   Declarations of Interest  
 
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
 

4.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 26 January 2022. 
 

5.   Chair's Announcements  
 

6.   Motion  
 
To consider the following Motion, to be moved by Councillor Parker-Jones and 
seconded by Councillor Tidridge: 
 
That this Committee establish a Local Nature Reserve on the land to be 
purchased by Eastleigh Borough Council at Stoke Park Farm. To ensure the site 
provides a diverse range of habitats, that nitrates and other environmentally 
harmful impacts from its previous use are eliminated and that it remains a special 
place for wildlife, nature and the people of Bishopstoke, Fair Oak and Horton 
Heath and indeed all across the Borough in perpetuity. 
 

7.   Presentation on Planning Guidelines  
 

8.   Planning Application - Fieldfare, Winchester Road, Fair Oak, Eastleigh, SO50 
7HD (X/21/92081) (Pages 9 - 16) 
 
Removal of condition 6 (permanent dwelling for agricultural worker) of planning 
permission Z/29632/005/00 for erection of agricultural workers dwelling 
(X/21/92081). 
 

9.   Planning Application - Land rear of Oakfields, Winchester Road, Fair Oak 

2

mailto:democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk


 

(F/21/90322) (Pages 17 - 48) 
 
Erection of 8no. dwellings with parking, landscaping and associated works 
(amended description) (F21/90322). 
 

10.   Planning Application - Treetops, Allington Lane, Fair Oak, Eastleigh, SO50 7DB 
(F/21/91132) (Pages 49 - 96) 
 
Demolition of all existing buildings on site and erection of 35 residential dwellings 
with vehicular access from Allington Lane and associated infrastructure, hard and 
soft landscaping, open space and drainage (F/21/91132). 
 

11.   Financial Report (Pages 97 - 100) 
 

12.   Local Area Action Plan (Pages 101 - 106) 
 

 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Wednesday, 29 June 2022 at 7:00 pm 

In the TBC 
 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates 
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus 
lots more.  
 

3

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

BISHOPSTOKE, FAIR OAK AND HORTON HEATH LOCAL AREA 
COMMITTEE 

 
Wednesday, 26 January 2022  (7:00 pm – 9:55 pm) 

 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor Parker-Jones (Chair); Councillors Dean, Broomfield, Marsh, 
Rushton and Tidridge 
 

________________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

45. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Councillor Marsh declared a personal interest in agenda item 6 as a Fair 
Oak Parish Councillor. 
 

46. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation on this occasion. 
 

47. MINUTES 
 
At the previous meeting a resident has presented a case study regarding 
the issue of the Persimmon Phase 1 development, particularly the 
treatment of the boundary with 38A and 40 Mortimers Lane.  It was 
requested that minute 41 be amended to state that the case study 
‘highlighted a number of flaws and problems with development control and 
planning policies’. 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That, subject to the above amendment, the Minutes of the meeting 
held on 24 November 2021 be confirmed and signed by the Chair as a 
correct record. 
 

48. CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
The Chair made the following announcements: 
 

 thanked Councillors Broomfield, Rushton and Dean for creating 
small working group to look at the case study raised at the last 
meeting.  The Planning Manager would attend the next team 
meeting and would come to march if anything further was required. 

 Informed the Committee that there would be works taking place at 
the Planney on 15 and 16 February to carry out clearance and 
install benches 

5

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

 

 Would have liked to announce that assets had been transferred to 
parishes, but this had yet to happen. 

 
Councillor Tidridge questioned when the allotments at the Chase and 
Beau Gardens, along with the cemetery extension, would be transferred to 
the Borough Council from the developer?  Residents were frustrated that 
they cannot have an allotment when they can see them falling further into 
disrepair.  The Chair responded that she was expecting an update in 
February. 
 

49. FINANCIAL REPORT 
 
The Committee received a report by the Local Area Manager (agenda item 
6) relating to expenditure from the Committee’s developer contributions: 
 
The Committee received the following update: 
 

 There was a spelling mistake in paragraph 12 of the report, it 
should read BIFOHH 

 
The Committee asked that thanks be extended to Amanda Coles, the 
S106 Officer, for all her work on using the developers contributions 
effectively. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Committee approved the following recommendations, 
subject to the update above: 
 
(1) £182,650 is allocated from developer contributions for a new 

splash pad at New Century Park, Fair Oak. 

(2) £60,000 is allocated from developer contributions for additional 
support for the Community Café at New Century Park, Fair Oak. 

(3) £17,404 is allocated from developer contributions for 
improvements to the Fair Oak village centre.  

(4) £12,000 is allocated from developer contributions for a 
replacement gate and play area fencing at Crowdhill, Fair Oak. 

 
50. PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES 

 
The Principal Planning Officer gave a short presentation on guidelines that 
had to be considered when determining planning applications; in particular 
the aspects that could, and could not, be taken into account. This was set 
against the broader policy framework.  

6



3 
 

 

 
51. PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND REAR OF OAKFIELDS, 

WINCHESTER ROAD, FAIR OAK - F/21/90322 
 
The Committee considered the report of the Executive Head of Planning 
and Economy (Agenda item 8) concerning an application for the Erection 
of 8no. dwellings with parking, landscaping and associated works 
(amended description).  (Ref: F/21/90322). 
 
The Committee were advised that the following updates had been made to 
the report: 

 
 A consultation response has been received from Natural England 

confirming no objection to the Habitats Regulations Assessment 
undertaken for the development subject to the applicant entering 
into a legal agreement to secure the required nitrates mitigation 
contributions.  

 A further consultation response has been received from 
Environmental Health raising no objection subject to a condition 
requiring further details in respect of noise to be provided for 
approval prior to first occupation of the dwellings. 

 A revised landscaping plan has been received to address matters 
raised by the Council’s Landscape Officer. No objection had 
subsequently been raised by the Landscape Officer with condition 8 
(as set out in the agenda) to be updated to refer to the correct 
revision number of the updated landscape plan.  

 
The recommendation was therefore updated to the following: 
 
Subject to: i) the applicant entering into a legal agreement to secure the 
required contributions towards nitrates offsetting (nutrient neutrality). 
 
To Delegate back to the Head of Housing and Development in conjunction 
with the Chair and Vice Chair of Bishopstoke, Fair Oak and Horton Heath 
Local Area Committee to PERMIT 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Committee resolved to DEFER the application to allow for 
further clarity and information to be provided in relation to the 
environmental and climate change related impacts of the proposals, 
the implications of traffic noise upon future occupiers of the 
development, and the pedestrian and highway safety related 
considerations specifically associated with the lack of footway 
provision to the frontage of the site.  
 
[NOTES: (A) A neighbouring resident spoke in objection to the application 
citing loss of privacy and noise impacts; (B) The agent and applicant 
spoke in support of the scheme citing the good quality design, adherence 
to planning standards, access to nature and the complementary nature of 

7



4 
 

 

the design to the current Crowdhill development; (C) The Committee 
raised concerns over the loss of trees, drainage, highway safety, noise 
impacts, need for the development and issues with access across the 
verge; and (D) The Committee requested clarification as to whether 
Climate Change implications and an Equalities Impact Assessment should 
be included as separate sections within reports relating to planning 
matters as they are in other decision reports.]  

8



BIFOHH – Bishopstoke, Fair Oak and Horton Heath – 9 March 2022 
 
Application Number: X/21/92081 
Case Officer: Summer Sharpe 
Received Date: 9 December 2021 
Site Address: Fieldfare, Winchester Road, Fair oak, Eastleigh, SO50 7HD 
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Hunt 
Proposal: Removal of condition 6 (permanent dwelling for agricultural 

worker) of planning permission Z/29632/005/00 for erection 
of agricultural workers dwelling.  
 

Recommendation:  Permit 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 

1. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
General Development Order 1988 the garage(s) shall not be converted 
to living accommodation without the prior written permission of the 
Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: In order to provide adequate on-site parking.  
 

2. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
General Development Order 1988, no extensions to the dwelling hereby 
permitted shall be constructed without the prior written permission of 
the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: In order to control the impact of the dwelling on the 
countryside.  

 
1. Report: 
 
2. This application has been referred to Committee by Councillors Tidridge, 
Parker-Jones and Broomfield. 
 
3. Site Characteristics and Character of the Locality 
 
4. The application site comprises a detached dwellinghouse located to the 
east of Winchester Road, set back by a field and polytunnels which are 
associated with the usage of the current dwellinghouse, as ‘Fieldfare Nursery’. 
The site itself falls within countryside designation.  
 
5. The wider surroundings comprise a mixture of uses. To the north of the site 
is a Caravan Dealership, nursery and commercial complex. To the south-west 
of the site are residential properties.   
 
6. Description of Application 

9

Agenda Item 8



 
7. Removal of condition 6 (permanent dwelling for agricultural worker) of 
planning permission Z/29632/005/00 for erection of agricultural workers 
dwelling. 
Condition 6: 
The occupation of the dwelling must be limited to a person solely or mainly 
employed, or, if retired from employment, last employed, in the locality in 
agriculture as defined in Section 336(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990, or in forestry (including any dependants of such a person residing with 
him) or a widow or widower of such a person. 
Reason: 
The site is in an area where new dwellings are not normally permitted except 
where there is an overriding need in the interests of agriculture or forestry.  
 
8. Relevant Planning History 
 
9. Planning application referenced: Z/29632/005/00 
Proposed: erection of agricultural workers dwelling 
Decision: permitted 15 December 1993 
 
10. Representations Received 
 
11. Objection Comment: the property is outside of the settlement boundary 
and should remain so due to the already too many ‘rogue infill’ planning 
permissions. Similar housing surrounding this property of the single dwelling 
type and it would be uncharacteristic to build multiple buildings on this single 
property.  
 
12. Consultation Responses 
 
13. Parish Council: no objection. 
 
14. Policy Context and Designations Applicable to Site 
 

 Within Designated Countryside 
 
15. Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies 
 
16. Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) Saved Policies: 
 

 1.CO (Countryside Protection); 

 7.CO (Removal of agricultural ties) 
 
17. Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014 
 
18. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for 
examination in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient housing 
was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  While this has not 
been withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can therefore be 

10



considered to have extremely limited weight in the determination of this 
application. 
 
19. Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 
 
20. The 2016-2036 Local Plan was submitted by the Council to the Planning 
Inspectorate on 31st October 2018 with hearings in public having commenced 
in November 2019 and concluded in early 2020. The Council subsequently 
received the Inspector’s feedback and recommended action points on the plan 
in April and May 2020. On 25 June 2020, the Council’s Cabinet resolved to 
progress the examination on the basis of the main modifications outlined in the 
Inspector’s letter and action points and/or any other main modifications which 
may be necessary. 
 
21. The Council’s Planning Policy Team subsequently prepared further 
evidence and drafted the main modifications in response to each of the 
Inspector’s letters and points. The Inspector also held an additional hearing in 
January 2021 in relation to Mercury Marina. Following on from this, the 
Inspector has now finalised the main modifications for public consultation and 
the Council has also prepared modifications to the policies map and proposed 
additional modifications. A report of the Planning Policy Senior Specialist was 
considered at Cabinet and Full Council on 27 May 2021 which recommended 
approval of the modifications proposed for public consultation.  
 
22. Consultation on the Main Modifications took place between 8 June 2021 
and 21 July 2021. Adoption of the plan is anticipated Summer 2022. It is 
considered that overall considerable weight can be attributed to it. The most 
relevant policies are: 
 

Strategic policies: 

 S7 (Development in the countryside) 
 
Development Management policies: 

 DM29 (Rural workers dwelling). 
 
23. Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 
 
24. Policy 15 – Safeguarding of Mineral Resources. 
 
25. National Planning Policy Framework 
 
26. At national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a 
material consideration of significant weight in the determination of planning 
applications. 
 
27. National Planning Practice Guidance  
 
Where material, the Planning Practice Guidance which supports the provisions 
and policies of the NPPF should be afforded weight in the consideration and 
determination of planning applications.  

11



 
28. Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background 
 
29. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a Local 
Planning Authority determining an application to do so in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.   
 
30. The Development Plan comprises the Saved Policies of the Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and the Hampshire Minerals and 
Waste Plan 2013 (which is not applicable in this case).  The NPPF and the 
Planning Practice Guidance constitute material considerations of significant 
weight. 
 
31. Principle: 
 
32. Saved Policy 1.CO of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-
2011) states that planning permission will not be granted for development 
outside the urban edge unless (i) it is necessary for agricultural, forestry or 
horticultural purposes and a countryside location is required; or (ii) it is for an 
outdoor recreational use or is genuinely required as ancillary to such a use 
and does not require the provision of buildings, hardstanding or structures 
which are of a form, scale or design which would demonstrably harm the 
character of the locality. The main aim of this policy is to protect the 
countryside. This is broadly echoed within Draft Policy S7 of the Submitted 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016-2036).  
 
33. Saved Policy 7.CO specifically relates to planning applications for the 
removal of agricultural occupancy conditions. This stipulates that the Borough 
Council must be satisfied that there is no longer a long-term need for an 
agricultural, horticultural or forestry workers dwelling in the locality and there is 
no evidence of a continuing need for housing for persons employed or last 
employed in the locality in these categories, and every reasonable effort has 
been made to sell or lease the property at a reasonable price reflecting the 
restriction on occupancy to people who could occupy it in accordance with the 
agricultural occupancy condition. Draft Policy DM29 of the Submitted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan (2016-2036) stipulates that provision of dwellings for rural 
workers in the countryside will only be permitted in certain circumstances, this 
Policy also addresses agricultural occupancy conditions, which are in line with 
those requirements set out within Saved Policy 7.CO.  
 
34. This application seeks to remove condition 6 of planning permission 
Z/29632/005/00 which permitted the erection of agricultural workers dwelling. 
This tie was imposed in recognition of the development having been allowed 
as an exception to the countryside policy.  
 
35. The effect of the removal of this condition would be to take away the 
agricultural tie and thereby allow the dwelling to be occupied unrestricted. 
Saved Policy 1.CO of the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2001-2011) 

12



and Draft Policy S7 of the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016-
2036) sets out a presumption against residential development in the 
countryside that is not necessary for agricultural, forestry or horticultural 
purposes and a countryside location is required. Whilst Saved Policy 7.CO 
and Draft Policy DM29 set out strict criteria for the allowing of the removal of 
agricultural occupancy conditions for agricultural workers dwellings. As set out 
above, these policies state that such proposals will not be permitted unless: (i) 
the Borough Council is satisfied that there is no longer a long-term need for an 
agricultural, horticultural or forestry workers dwelling in the locality and there is 
no evidence of continuing need for housing for persons employed or last 
employed in the locality in these categories; and (ii) every reasonable effort 
has been made to sell or leave the property at a reasonable price reflecting 
the restriction on occupancy to people who could occupy it in accordance with 
the agricultural occupancy condition.  
 
36. The application has been accompanied by; a viability report, valuation 
appraisals, agriculture appraisal, and supporting letter from the applicants. It is 
also noted that reference has been made to a previous application (referenced 
X/17/80709 at Cricketwood, Tanhouse Lane) and an appeal decision which 
was based in Newquay.  
 
37. Fieldfare was purchased by Mr & Mrs Hunt (the applicants) in 1988. 
Permission for the agricultural workers dwelling was permitted in 1993. The 
work to the dwelling began in 1999, however Mr Hunt was taken ill with life 
changing consequences, thus impacting upon the works to the dwelling, which 
were eventually completed in 2010. The commercial nursery provided 
wholesale flowers to many business and retailers however due to the 
competition within the industry the business is no longer viable. Opportunities 
to acquire more land were investigated but were not fruitful.  
 
38. The viability report provides a table showing that in 2015, 2017 – 2019 the 
business made a loss, which increased from 2017 to 2019. In this table it 
notes that in 2020 business was not able to trade due to Covid-19. In addition 
to these losses, the viability report notes that there are several competitors 
nearby (In-Excess Garden Centre, Hampshire Hedges Ltd, Brambridge 
Garden Centre, Haskins Garden Centre, A E Roberts Woodlea Nurseries, 
B&Q Garden Centre, and Allington Nursery). The report also notes the 
potential for other uses; however, it was concluded that residential is the most 
suitable.  
 
39. A valuation appraisal has been undertaken; this sets out that should the 
property be sold with an agricultural tie the estimated value would be between 
£750,000 - £850,000. With reference to planning application X/17/80709 the 
Officer concluded that the value of Cricketwood, Tanhouse Lane, which had a 
value of between £650,000 - £675,000 (with the tie in place) would be beyond 
the affordability of most agricultural workers. The application site has a higher 
value than that of Cricketwood and therefore can be concluded that this 
valuation would exceed what could be afforded by an agricultural worker.  
 

13



40. An agricultural appraisal has been submitted, which has investigated 
alternative agricultural uses for the site; fruit production. The statistics provided 
show that this use would not be able to generate a sufficient income to employ 
a full-time farm worker “even if the whole of Fieldfare were to be covered with 
polytunnels or glasshouses”.  
 
41. Based on the evidence provided, it is considered that the stipulations of 
Saved Policy 7.CO and Draft Policy DM29 are met; in that there is no long-
term need for such a dwelling in the locality. A valuation has been undertaken; 
however, the applicants are not seeking to sell the property, further the value 
of the dwelling even with the tie still in place is beyond the reach of the 
agricultural worker which the restriction was intended for. It would therefore be 
difficult to argue that the policy requirements have not/ could not be met. This 
being the case, it is considered that the information provided does satisfy the 
criteria of Saved Policy 7.CO and Draft Policy DM29 and that the agricultural 
tie can reasonably be lifted, and the condition removed.  
 
42. Other Matters: 
 

43. The proposal is not considered to have an adverse impact upon the 
surrounding amenities, landscape, highways, ecology, nitrates impact or 
drainage as no physical development is proposed, this application solely 
relates to the removal of the agricultural occupancy condition.  
 
44. Climate Impact and Sustainability 
 
45. In July 2019, the Council declared a Climate Change and 
Environmental Emergency. In doing so it agreed, among other things, to: 
(a) put in place measures to ensure the Council’s own operations and 
functions achieve carbon neutrality by 2025; (b) work with partners to aim 
for all projects and services delivered in the Borough to achieve carbon 
neutrality by 2030; (c) ensure that the Council’s procurement policy 
recognises carbon neutrality as one of its primary considerations; and (d) 
recognise the urgency of action to mitigate and adapt to climate change in 
every decision taken by the Council. This is underpinned by the Climate 
and Environment Emergency Strategy 2020–2030 and the supporting 
Climate and Environmental Emergency Action Plan – Update June 2020. 
 
46. The declaration of the Climate Change and Environmental Emergency 
demonstrates a strong commitment from the Council to achieve net zero. It 
is not part of development plan or emerging plan policy, but it is a material 
consideration to be considered alongside all other material considerations. 
The need to support the economy is part of the Strategic Environmental 
Assessment for the Emerging Local Plan, as is an assessment of climate 
impacts.  
 
47. The NPPF, Saved Policies 34.ES and 37.ES of the local plan, Draft 
Policies S1, DM2 and DM3 of the Emerging local plan and energy and 
water elements of the adopted Environmentally Sustainable Development 
SPD require development to be sustainable in terms of resource use, 

14



climate change and energy use. When considering the impact of climate 
change, the proposed development is not expected to be directly impacted 
by the potential effects of climate change and is expected to have a 
negligible impact on the climate as a result of the development or its use. 
 
48. Equalities Implications: 
 
49. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality 
duty. Section149 states:- 

- A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to 
the need to: 

a. eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 
conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; 

b. advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

c. foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
50. When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the 
equality duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups. It is 
considered that this application does not raise any equality implications. 
 

51. Conclusion 
 
52. For the reasons given above, it is considered that the agricultural tie can 
reasonably be lifted, and the condition removed.  
 

15



 

16



BFOHH – Bishopstoke, Fair Oak and Horton Heath Local Area Committee 9 March 
2022 

 
Application Number: F/21/90322 
Case Officer: David Huckfield 
Received Date: 12/04/2021 
Site Address: Land rear of Oakfields, Winchester Road, Fair Oak 
Applicant: Antoinette Denham-Harding 
Proposal: 
 
 
 

Erection of 8no. dwellings with parking, landscaping and 
associated works (amended description) 
 
 

Recommendation:  
 
Subject to: 
 

i) the applicant entering into a legal agreement to secure the required 
contributions towards nitrates offsetting (nutrient neutrality) 

 
To Delegate back to the Executive Head for Planning and Economy in consultation 
with the Chair and Vice Chair of Bishopstoke, Fair Oak and Horton Heath Local Area 
Committee to PERMIT subject to the following conditions: 
 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 

the following plans numbered: 2009_0002 Revision D, 2009_1000 Revision D, 
2009_1001 Revision Q, 2009_1002 Revision B, 2009_2000_Revision G, 
2009_2001 Revision G, 2009_2002 Revision H, 2009_2003 Revision H, 
2009_2004 Revision H, 2009_2005 Revision H, 2009_3001 Revision E, 
2009_3002 Revision C, 2009_3003 Revision D, 2009_3004 Revision E, 
2009_3005 Revision C, 2009_3007 Revision B. Reason: For the avoidance of 
doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the 
date of this decision. Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
3. No construction or demolition works shall commence until a Construction 

Environment Management Plan (CEMP), has been submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Demolition and construction shall 
only take place in accordance with the approved details which shall include: 

 
a)  a programme and phasing of the demolition, construction and 

development works; 
b)  the location and height of temporary site buildings, compounds, 

construction material and plant storage areas used during demolition and 
construction; 

c)  safeguards to be used within the construction process to ensure surface 
water contains no pollutants on leaving the site; 

17

Agenda Item 9



d)  safeguards for fuel and chemical storage and use, to ensure no pollution 
of the surface water leaving the site; 

e)  the arrangements for the routing / turning of lorries and details for 
construction traffic access to the site; 

f)  the arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction works, 
loading / unloading of plant & materials and restoration of any damage to 
the highway [including any vehicle crossovers where applicable]; 

g)  the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
h)  the protection of pedestrian routes during construction; 
i)  management measures to control the emission of dust generated by 

demolition and construction works; 
j)  a scheme, following assessment, for controlling noise and vibration 

impacts on noise sensitive properties from, site preparation and 
construction activities (to include details of any piling if proposed); 

k)  provision for storage, collection, and disposal of waste from the 
development during the demolition and construction period, 

l)  measures to prevent mud and dust on the highway during demolition and 
construction; and 

m)  the erection and maintenance of any security hoardings including any 
decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate. 

 
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the amenity of the locality, 
neighbouring residents, and biodiversity and hydrology during the demolition 
and construction process. 

 
4. No development shall commence until a detailed method statement for either 

the removal or the long-term management / control of Japanese Knotweed on 
the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The method statement shall include proposed measures that will be 
used to prevent the spread of Japanese Knotweed during any operations, e.g., 
spraying and/or injection or soil movement. It shall also contain measures to 
ensure that any soils brought to the site are free of the seeds / root / stem of 
any invasive plant covered under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as 
amended. Development shall proceed in accordance with the approved method 
statement. Reason: To prevent the spread of Japanese Knotweed which is an 
invasive species. 

 
5. No development shall start until details for the sustainable disposal of surface 

water and the disposal of foul sewerage from the development hereby 
permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The details to be submitted shall be based upon the 
principles set out within the submitted ‘Flood Risk Assessment & Sustainable 
Drainage Proposal, and Sewage Disposal’ document (Simon Jones-Parry, 
Revision A, 1 April 2021) and include a timetable for their implementation. The 
development shall then accord with the approved details. Reason: To ensure 
satisfactory provision of foul and surface water drainage. 
 

6. Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved, details for the 
long-term maintenance arrangements for the surface water drainage system 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

18



The submitted details shall include maintenance schedules for each drainage 
feature type as well as details of ownership and responsibilities for carrying out 
maintenance. Reason: To secure the ongoing provision of satisfactory surface 
water drainage. 

 
7. No development above slab level shall be carried out until the following details 

have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority: 
 

 Details and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the 
external surfaces of the development hereby permitted; and 

 Details of external bin storage and collection points, and cycle storage.  
 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interest of the 
amenities of the area. 

 
8. Prior to any development above slab level, a detailed final landscaping scheme, 

based on the principles set out on drawing number 1974-PP-300 Revision A 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme shall cover all hard and soft landscaping [including trees, 
boundary treatments, and hard surfacing] and provide details of timings for all 
landscaping and future maintenance and management arrangements and 
responsibilities. The works shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details and to the appropriate British Standard. Reason: In the 
interests of the visual amenity of the locality.  

 
9. All hard & soft landscaping, tree planting and boundary treatments shall be 

carried out in accordance with the approved details and to the appropriate 
British Standard. For a period of no less than 10 years after planting, any trees 
or plants which are removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, 
shall be replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of the same 
species, size and number as originally approved in the landscaping scheme. 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to safeguard 
the amenities of neighbouring residents. 
 

10. No development above slab level shall take place until details of the proposed 
fenestration and mechanical ventilation measures for the dwellings as well as 
the fencing to surround their amenity areas, have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority, the submission shall include details of 
the specific proposed products and their acoustic performance and must 
demonstrate that they will achieve compliance with the internal room and 
external amenity noise standards contained within the criteria of BS8233:2014 
with the limit for outdoor amenity ordinarily being 50dB(A). The measures shall 
thereafter be installed in accordance with the approved details prior to first 
occupation of the dwellings and shall thereafter be retained. Reason: In order to 
provide a satisfactory internal environment in the interests of amenity.  

 
11. Prior to the occupation of the development (or, in accordance with a timetable 

to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority), as built stage SAP 

19



data and as built stage water calculator confirming energy efficiency and the 
predicted internal mains water consumption to achieve the following shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: In respect 
of energy efficiency, a standard of a 19% improvement of dwelling emission 
rate over the target emission rate as set in the 2013 Building Regulations. In 
respect of water consumption, a maximum predicted internal mains water 
consumption of 105 litres/person/day. The development shall not be carried out 
otherwise than in accordance with the approved details. Reason: To support a 
comprehensive approach to high quality design across the site; in line with the 
guidance set out in the Government's Ministerial Statement of 25 March 2015 
which states that Local Planning Authorities should, from the date of its 
publication, take into account the government's intentions in the statement [and 
not set conditions with requirements above a Code level 4 equivalent]. 

 
12. No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until the areas shown on the 

approved plan (drawing number: 2009_1001 Rev Q) for the parking of vehicles 
associated with that dwelling have been surfaced and made available for use. 
The parking shall then be permanently retained and reserved for that purpose 
at all times. Reason: To make provision for adequate on-site parking in the 
interests of highway safety. 

 
13. The garages hereby approved shall only be used for the purpose of parking 

private motor vehicles in connection with the residential use of the property and 
shall not, at any time, be used for living accommodation, business, commercial 
or industrial purposes. Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of on-site 
parking in the interests of highway safety.  

 
14. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the recommendations 

for ecological mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures as set out 
within the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Ecosupport, 7 April 
2021). Reasons: In the interests of biodiversity. 

 
15. Any windows marked on the approved drawings as obscure glazed shall be 

installed in accordance with the approved drawings, with no more than a top-
hung opening toplight. Obscure glazing shall be to a minimum of Pilkington’s 
level 3 or equivalent and, once installed, the windows shall be permanently 
maintained in that condition. Reason: To protect the amenity and privacy of 
neighbouring residents. 

 
16. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-
enacting that order without or without modification) no development permitted 
by Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B and C, shall be carried out without the prior 
written approval of the Local Planning Authority. Reason: In the interests of 
visual and residential amenity.  

 
17. No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place during the 

construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800 Mondays to 
Fridays and 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Bank 

20



Holidays. Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby 
dwellings. 

 
18. No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source shall 

take place during the demolition, construction and fitting out process. Reason: 
To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties. 

 
Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Eastleigh Borough council take a positive approach to the handling of 
development proposals so as to achieve, whenever possible, a positive outcome and 
to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a timely manner. 
 
Note to Applicant: This planning permission does not convey the right for the 
development to encroach over, under or onto land which is not within your 
ownership, without the consent of the landowner. The permission of the relevant land 
owner will be required to remove the existing boundary trees, provide access to the 
approved dwellings and to connect into the existing services and you should ensure 
that the necessary consent(s)/agreements is/are in place prior to commencing any 
works.  
 

 
 
Report 
 
Introduction 
 
1. The application was previously considered at the meeting of the Bishopstoke, 

Fair Oak and Horton Heath Location Area Committee on Wednesday 26 
January 2022 with members resolving to defer the application. This was in 
order to allow for further clarity and information to be provided in relation to the 
environmental and climate change related impacts of the proposals, the 
implications of traffic noise upon future occupiers of the development, and the 
pedestrian and highway safety related considerations specifically associated 
with the lack of footway provision to the frontage of the site. These matters are 
considered directly in the following sections below, with a further section then 
setting out updates which were subsequent to the publication of the original 
report and which were verbally reported at the committee meeting.  
 

2. The original report, which outlines the proposals and covers the other material 
considerations that are of relevance to the application, is included further 
below. 

 
Pedestrian and highway safety related considerations associated with there 
being no footway provision along the frontage of the site 
 
3. Saved Policies 100.T and 102.T of the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 

2001-2011 are of relevance to this specific issue and, amongst other things, 
require that a development is, or could be, well served by public transport, 
cycling and walking, and that development requiring new or improved access 
will be permitted provided it does not interfere with the safety, function and 

21



standard of the service of the road network. Policy DM13 of the Emerging 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 reiterates these requirements and 
states that access arrangements to the highway network must meet national 
and local guidance and standards, and not cause or increase danger to road 
users or have a significant detrimental impact on the operation or safety of the 
highway network.  
 

4. In terms of these considerations and as noted above, at the previous committee 
meeting members had raised the matter of the lack of footway provision along 
the frontage of the development site and the potential implications of this for 
pedestrian and highway safety within this section of Delamere Gardens. As is 
set out within the original report to the committee, the frontage of the site is 
proposed to be spanned by a green verge which will be supplemented by tree 
and hedge planting as part of the landscaping scheme for the development, 
with this verge being intersected by 5 points of access serving private drives for 
the new dwellings. There is no footway proposed to be provided along this 
frontage.  
 

5. With regards to the safety considerations associated with this arrangement, the 
highway authority (Hampshire County Council) are the statutory consultee on 
the application under the provisions of Part 4, Section 18 of The Town and 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 
2015 and part of their role is to advise upon the impacts of or from development 
upon the safe and efficient operation of the highway and its users. The highway 
authority had raised no objection to the development within their consultation 
responses on the planning application subject to conditions (as summarised in 
paragraph 18 of the original report to the committee). Following on from this 
matter being raised at the committee meeting however, further input and 
clarification has been sought from the highway authority in relation to the 
specific issue of the footway.  

 
6. The highway authority’s further comments are set out in full below and, as per 

these comments, they are satisfied that the development would not endanger 
pedestrian safety, either for pedestrians accessing or egressing the new 
dwellings or moving along Delamere Gardens past and beyond the site, with 
existing footway provision being present to the opposing side of Delamere 
Gardens and the road conditions in this location, as well as the visibility 
afforded, being conducive to the safe crossing of the highway. Accordingly, the 
proposals are considered to be acceptable from a highway and pedestrian 
safety perspective and the layout and access arrangements accord with the 
requirements of the aforementioned development plan policies in these 
respects.  

 
Hampshire County Council Highways Comments (15 February 2022): 
 
7. In regard to application F/21/90322, further to the HCC Highways consultation 

responses dated 01 June 2021 and 22 December 2021, it is understood that 
questions have been raised in regard to the requirement for a dedicated 
footway to run across the frontage of the proposed properties, on the eastern 
side of Delamere Gardens. Whilst the provision of such a footway link would 

22



not be objected to, the necessity of such a link would not form a justified 
objection from a highways perspective. There is an existing footway located on 
the western side of Delamere Gardens that is reached from the eastern side 
from existing footway links opposite numbers 44 and 60 Delamere Gardens, 
and this requires a crossing by pedestrians that is easily undertaken due to 
elements such as the width of the road, speed and flow of traffic, and also 
appropriate levels of visibility.  

 
8. The layout of the proposed dwellings lends itself well to undertake the same 

movement, a cross of Delamere Gardens, with movement out of the properties 
driveways acting as a drop kerb, where driveways opposite provide the same. 
Movements in and out of these driveways, even in the case of the shared 
driveway for plots 2 and 3 will be low, with speeds also low in the unlikely event 
of a conflict between an exiting pedestrian and an arriving vehicle. 
 

9. As such, as outlined above, whilst the provision of a footway would not be 
objected to, this has not been included on plans. However, east to west 
crossing movements would be easily and safely achievable and are indeed 
already taking place without known incident at each end of the proposed 
dwelling frontages. Given this, an objection in regard to a lack of frontage 
footway would not be justified in this particular case. 

 
Environmental and climate change related impacts of the proposals  
 
10. The matter of the climate change related impacts of the proposals was also 

raised at the 26 January committee meeting with reference being made by 
members to the Council having declared a Climate Change and Environmental 
Emergency. The Council made this declaration in 2019 and in doing so agreed, 
amongst other things, to: (a) put in place measures to ensure the Council’s own 
operations and functions achieve carbon neutrality by 2025; (b) work with 
partners to aim for all projects and services delivered in the Borough to achieve 
carbon neutrality by 2030; (c) ensure that the Council’s procurement policy 
recognises carbon neutrality as one of its primary considerations; and (d) 
recognise the urgency of action to mitigate and adapt to climate change in 
every decision taken by the Council. This is underpinned by the Climate and 
Environment Emergency Strategy 2020–2030 and the supporting Climate and 
Environmental Emergency Action Plan – Update June 2020 and demonstrates 
a strong commitment by the Council to achieve net zero.  
 

11. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 set out the legal framework 
for how planning applications should be considered and these legislative 
provisions require a local planning authority determining an application to do so 
in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. The Council’s declaration is not part of the adopted 
development plan and neither the NPPF nor the policies within the emerging 
local plan set net zero as a specific target. However, addressing climate 
change is a core part of the NPPF and emerging policy. As such the impacts of 
development upon the environment and in respect of climate change are 
material considerations and are, therefore, required to be considered alongside 

23



those others that are of relevance to the application.  
 

12. In terms of the specific planning requirements in this regard, the need to protect 
the environment is part of the Strategic Environmental Assessment for the 
Emerging Local Plan, as is an assessment of climate impacts. The NPPF aims 
for the need for housing to be met and policy S2 of the emerging local plan sets 
a target for 14,580 dwellings to be provided by 2036. Saved Policies 34.ES and 
37.ES of the adopted Local Plan, and Policies S1, DM2 and DM3 of the 
Emerging Local Plan, as well as the energy and water elements of the 
Council’s adopted Environmentally Sustainable Development SPD, collectively 
require development to be sustainable in that it should use natural resources 
prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to climate 
change, including moving to a low carbon future. In addition, the NPPF sets 
out, within its presumption in favour of sustainable development, that local 
plans should promote a sustainable pattern of development that seeks to, inter 
alia, mitigate climate change (including by making effective use of land in urban 
areas) and adapt to its effects.  
 

13. As set out within the section on the ‘principle of development’ within the report 
to the committee of 26 January, the application site is proposed to be 
incorporated into the urban edge within the Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local 
Plan 2016-2036 and is directly bounded by a recent major residential 
development (Crowdhill Green). The principle of residential development is 
therefore considered to be acceptable on the application site and the proposals 
will complement the neighbouring development in respect of the layout, form 
and design of the housing. At a density of 34.8 dwellings per hectare and with 
properties designed to meet the required standards in terms of internal floor 
space, garden sizes and parking provision, the proposals are considered to 
make efficient and effective use of land.  
 

14. With regards to other material considerations of relevance to the implications of 
climate change, the site lies within Flood Zone 1 where residential development 
is considered to be appropriate in principle and the proposals also include 
sustainable drainage provisions that will discharge surface water from the site 
at half the greenfield run off rate, with the submitted information demonstrating 
that sufficient storage will be included to ensure no overflow of the drainage 
system will occur for storm events up to the 1 in 100-year event, plus 40% extra 
rainfall depth to allow for climate change, in the lifetime of the development. In 
addition, the proposals also include a comprehensive landscaping scheme 
which will offset the tree loss resulting from the development and enhance the 
wider site, as well as ecological protection and enhancement measures. The 
development is also required to achieve nutrient neutrality to limit its effect on 
the European protected Solent Complex, with the requisite contributions in this 
regard proposed to be secured via a legal agreement under the provisions of 
S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act.  
 

15. Further, the developer will be required to submit for approval, under the 
provisions of condition 3, a Construction Environment Management Plan which 
will need to include measures to mitigate against and limit any pollution arising 
from the construction phase of the development process. There is also a 

24



condition (condition 11) which will be imposed in respect of reducing energy 
and water consumption for the properties within the development during the 
operational phase. In accordance with Policy DM2 (Environmentally sustainable 
development) of the Emerging Local Plan, this condition requires that the new 
dwellings achieve a 19% improvement in predicted carbon emissions compared 
with buildings regulations standards, and a maximum predicted internal mains 
water consumption of 105 litres/person/day (the standard building regulations 
requirement (requirement G2 and regulation 36) where this is not imposed is 
125 litres/person/day). Evidence will be required to be provided of compliance 
with these requirements before the properties could be occupied.  
 

16. When considering the impacts of climate change therefore, the proposed 
development is expected to be resilient to its potential effects and to 
reduce/limit the impacts on climate emissions as a result of measures 
incorporated into the scheme. Taking account of these range of factors, the 
proposals are deemed to comply with the relevant national and local planning 
policy requirements and the development is not expected to be unduly affected 
by, or unduly impact upon, the potential effects of climate change.  

 
The implications of traffic noise upon future occupiers of the development 
 
17. The adverse effects of exposure to excessive noise and vibration on health and 

quality of life are a material planning consideration, with the planning policy 
requirements in this respect being set out within Saved Policy 30.ES of the 
adopted Local Plan and Policy DM8 of the Emerging Local Plan. These policies 
collectively require that the occupiers of new development are not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of noise 
pollution, and are consistent with the requirements of Paragraphs 174 and 185 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The NPPF makes 
reference to the Noise Policy Statement for England (NPSE) that sets out the 
Government’s long-term vision to ‘promote good health and a good quality of 
life through the effective management of noise within the context of 
Government policy on sustainable development’. The Planning Practice 
Guidance, which supports the NPPF, provides guidance on how noise is 
relevant to planning and how its impacts should be assessed in determining 
planning applications.  
 

18. The above adopted and emerging local plan policies include daytime and night-
time standards for maximum ambient noise levels for dwellings that are subject 
to transport-related noise, with these levels being based on Table 4 of 
BS8233:2014 ‘Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings’. 
Where necessary, the Council requires a noise assessment to be provided as 
part of a planning application which should identify significant sources of noise, 
assesses the likely short- and long-term impacts of noise generated or 
exposure to noise, and proposes noise protection or mitigation measures where 
the relevant standards would be exceeded. Whilst not planning policy, the 
Professional Practice Guidance on Planning and Noise for new residential 
development (ProPG) provides acoustic practitioners with guidance on the 
undertaking of noise assessments and the management of noise within the 

25



planning system in England. 
 

19. The application is supported by a Noise Impact Assessment which refers to the 
above-mentioned national policies and guidance. This Assessment, which has 
been updated during the course of the application process, identifies that the 
new dwellings have the potential to be impacted by traffic noise from 
Winchester Road which lies to the eastern side of the development site and 
demonstrates that, without mitigation, the residents of the development could 
be exposed to noise levels in excess of those specified within adopted and 
emerging local plan policy.  
 

20. The Planning Practice Guidance (Paragraph: 010 Reference ID: 30-010-
20190722) advises that for noise sensitive developments (including residential), 
mitigation measures can include avoiding noisy locations in the first place; 
designing the development to reduce the impact of noise from adjoining 
activities or the local environment; incorporating noise barriers; and optimising 
the sound insulation provided by the building envelope. The latter can include 
measures such as sound insultation, acoustic glazing and doors and/or 
alternative ventilation strategies.  
 

21. In this regard, and as noted within the report to the committee of 26 January, 
the principle of residential development is accepted on the site and indeed, in 
recent years, there are residential properties (on Savernake Way) which have 
been approved and constructed on the immediately adjacent land to the south 
and which lie in closer proximity to Winchester Road. The entire avoidance of 
the noisy location is therefore not considered necessary or reasonable in this 
case, with the levels of noise experienced not being considered to be such as 
to be prohibitive to residential development taking place. In terms of design, the 
proposed site layout is such as to tie the scheme in with the adjacent Crownhill 
Green development which is considered to be an acceptable approach and 
reorientating or reconfiguring properties therefore would likely serve to 
undermine this. Similarly, when considering the internal layouts, it would not be 
feasible or practical for all habitable rooms to be positioned, or have their 
windows sited, on the least noisy façade of the building.  

 
22. Accordingly, the noise assessment seeks to achieve an acceptable internal 

acoustic environment through a proposed glazing and ventilation strategy for 
the new dwellings. A similar approach was taken for the aforementioned 
adjacent properties to the immediate south of the site as set out within the 
noise report which accompanied application R/14/75539 which was approved in 
2015. In the case of the current application, the noise assessment puts forward 
a specification of a minimum glazing performance for windows and doors, as 
well as for ventilation to habitable rooms with a vent type with a higher acoustic 
performance being recommended for bedrooms on the rear façade which faces 
towards the noise source, Winchester Road. Noise levels within amenity areas 
are stated to be achievable through the use of a 2m high close-boarded timber 
fence around the perimeter of the garden boundaries.  

 
23. Whilst the Council’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has stated that further 

information was required, they advised that the noise assessment could be 

26



taken to demonstrate the intention to comply with the Council’s noise limits and 
that the matter could be covered by condition, with this requiring verification of 
noise mitigation by measurement of noise levels prior to the use commencing. 
The National Planning Policy Framework sets out a requirement that local 
planning authorities should consider whether otherwise unacceptable 
development could be made acceptable through the use of planning conditions 
(paragraph 55). In this case, as the principle of residential development is 
accepted on the site as noted above and the specified noise levels within the 
Council’s planning policies are not considered to be incapable of being 
complied with, a conditional approach is considered to be reasonable and 
would meet the tests for conditions as set out within the NPPF.  

 
24. Following further consideration of the matter and discussions with the EHO, the 

wording of the condition previously proposed has been revised to require 
specific details of the products that are to be installed as well as their acoustic 
performance, and that it is demonstrated that they would meet the required 
standards for internal and external noise levels as set out within BS8233:2014. 
With the imposition of this condition, there is considered to be no unacceptable 
conflict with the requirements of Saved Policy 30.ES, Policy DM8 of the 
Emerging Local Plan, or Paragraphs 174 and 185 of the NPPF in respect of the 
matter of residential amenity.  

 
Other amendments and updates following the publication of the previous 
report  
 
25. Subsequent to the publication of the report to the committee of 26 January 

2022, there were a range of updates which were verbally reported during the 
planning officer’s presentation at the meeting and are set out within the 
published minutes. For completeness and ease of reference, these are also 
explained here: 
 

 Following the initial comments of the Council’s Landscape Officer 
(summarised in paragraph 17 of the original report), an updated 
Landscaping Plan was received to address the points that had been 
raised. The Council’s Landscape Officer has subsequently confirmed that 
they have no objection to the proposals and Condition 8 as set out in the 
agenda has been updated to reference the relevant revision number on 
the updated plan. An assessment of the landscape related impacts of the 
development is included within paragraphs 43 to 47 of the original report.  

 

 Natural England have confirmed that they have no objection to the 
Habitats Regulations Assessment undertaken by the Local Planning 
Authority in respect of the development, subject to the required 
contributions towards nitrates mitigation being secured. The context in 
respect of this issue is provided in paragraphs 69 to 71 of the original 
report.  

 

 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer, subsequent to their initial 
comments summarised in paragraph 21 of the original report and 
following the receipt of an updated noise assessment, had confirmed no 

27



objection was raised on the grounds that the noise assessment 
demonstrated an intention to comply with the Council’s required noise 
limits, subject to a condition requiring verification of noise mitigation by 
measurement of noise levels prior to the use commencing. The matter of 
noise is covered in more detail in the sections above following the 
subsequent discussions on this at the committee meeting and the 
resolution of the committee to defer the application to seek further details 
on this issue.  

 
26. In addition to the above previously reported updates and in response to matters 

discussed at the committee meeting, the wording of conditions 7 and 8 has 
been updated to respectively require details of bin collection points to be 
provided in addition to bin and cycle storage, and that the landscaping 
management information required includes details of who would be responsible 
for the ongoing maintenance of the landscape provisions. In addition, a further 
condition (condition 16) has been added to remove permitted development 
rights for the dwellings in respect of extensions and roof additions/alterations 
(Classes A, B and C of Part 1, Schedule 2 of the GPDO) in the interests of 
visual and residential amenity.  

 
Conclusion 
 
27. As noted at the outset of this report, the application was deferred at the 

previous local area committee meeting on the 26 January 2022, in order to 
allow for the further clarity and information to be provided in relation to the 
environmental and climate change related impacts of the proposals, the 
implications of traffic noise upon future occupiers of the development, and the 
pedestrian and highway safety related considerations specifically associated 
with the lack of footway provision to the frontage of the site. These issues are 
covered in the sections above and it is considered that the proposals accord 
with the relevant local and national planning policy requirements in relation to 
these matters. As set out within the previous report to the committee (see 
below) the development is also considered to be acceptable in terms of its 
other material planning impacts. Accordingly, it is considered that the proposals 
constitute sustainable development and the application is therefore 
recommended for approval subject to the conditions listed at the outset of this 
report and the applicant entering into a legal agreement to secure the required 
contributions towards nitrates offsetting (nutrient neutrality). 

 

 
 
Report to the Bishopstoke, Fair Oak and Horton Heath Local Area Committee 
(26 January 2022) 
 
1. This application has been referred to Committee by Councillors Parker-Jones, 

Tidridge, Marsh and Broomfield. 
 
Description of application 
 

28



2. The application seeks full planning approval for the construction of 8no. two-
storey dwellinghouses in the form of 4no. detached four-bedroom properties 
and 2no. pairs of semi-detached, three-bedroom dwellings, with the scheme 
having been amended during the course of the application process from an 
initial proposal for 9no. dwellings.  
 

3. The properties would be accessed from Delamere Gardens to the west and off-
road parking provided for each dwelling, with this incorporating detached single 
garages for plots 1 and 4. Private amenity space is situated to the rear of each 
property which is proposed to be predominately laid to lawn and enclosed with 
a 2m high close boarded timber fence. The existing fencing which spans the 
length of the western boundary of the site would be removed, along with the 
existing trees that are present on the verge which lies between this and the 
highway (Delamere Gardens).   
 

4. The application is accompanied by a landscaping scheme which includes a 
degree of replacement tree planting along this verge as well as lower-level 
hedging along the frontages of each plot, with further planting proposed within 
the garden areas of the dwellings. Underground rainwater attenuation tanks 
which form part of the surface water drainage provisions for the development 
will lie beneath the shared driveway of plots 2 and 3 with these feeding into the 
existing drainage scheme for the wider adjacent development.  
 

The site and its surroundings 
 

5. The application site is of a narrow rectangular shape and extends to an area of 
approximately 0.23 hectares. It is comprised of a parcel of grassland which had 
previously been part of ‘Oakfields’, a former Wesleyan Chapel fronting onto 
Winchester Road which was converted to a residential dwelling in the 1980s 
and which lies to the east of the site. The site is accessed from Delamere 
Gardens to its western perimeter with a field style gate demarcating the 
entrance point. The remainder of the site is enclosed predominantly by a close-
boarded timber fence. In terms of topography the site is generally flat, with a 
gentle fall from south to north. There are no trees within the site, however, there 
are a number of relatively immature street trees along the eastern edge of 
Delamere Gardens which formed part of the landscaping scheme for the 
adjacent residential development (Crowdhill Green).  
 

6. In addition to ‘Oakfields’, the eastern boundary of the site is also bordered by a 
further residential property ‘Hillview’ as well as a small stable block and 
associated ancillary structures. To the west and south is the Crowdhill Green 
development comprising of a total of 330no. dwellings (see planning history 
below) which is formed of a mixture of detached, semi-detached and short 
terraces of two-storey dwellings, predominantly of red brick construction with 
some examples of render and hanging tiles being present. The site lies close to 
the new northern edge of Fair Oak Village, although the immediate surrounding 
area and Winchester Road in particular still retains something of a semi-rural 
character.  

 
Relevant planning history 

29



 
7. The application site itself has relatively limited planning history, however, it lies 

immediately adjacent to a recent major residential development scheme which 
borders the site to its western and southern sides. This development which is 
comprised a total of 330no. dwellings was granted outline planning permission 
in 2014 under planning reference O/13/73707 (Outline: Residential 
development of up to 330 new dwelling units, new community building, public 
open space, and provision of new vehicular access from Winchester Road 
following demolition of existing buildings and stopping up of existing access).  
 

8. Reserved Matters approval was subsequently granted in 2015 for the phase of 
the development (Phase II) which neighbours the application site (R/15/76118 – 
Reserved Matters pursuant to outline planning permission O/13/73707 Phase 2 
residential development comprising 81no. 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 bed dwellings with 
associated access roads, parking, landscaping and footways (matters for 
approval appearance, landscaping, layout and scale). 

 
Summary of representations received 
 
9. A total of 10 letters of objection were received in relation to the plans originally 

proposed (for 9no. units), with 5 letters of objection having been received in 
response to the reconsultation on the amended scheme now under 
consideration (for 8no. dwellings).  
 
The initial points of objection are summarised as follows: 
 

 Overdevelopment and the houses are not needed – the estate has 
enough housing and the area is overpopulated.  

 The plot provides separation from Delamere Gardens to Winchester 
Road and should remain.  

 Development of this field will impact negatively on the street scene.  

 Pressures on local infrastructure which is already at capacity.  

 Impacts upon the character of Hill Cottage and Oakfields which are 
long standing properties in the area.  

 Increased pollution impacts upon existing residents.  

 Visual intrusion, loss of privacy, views and light for existing residents.  

 Pressures on the drainage system within the Crowdhill development.  

 Parking and access issues which are already constrained. 

 Due to covid and people working from home, the transport survey and 
noise assessment does not accurately reflect the level of vehicle 
movements and noise and thereby the impacts arising from these.  

 Development works impacting on local wildlife.  

 Impacts from construction traffic upon the integrity of existing 
properties. 

 Noise impacts and disturbance caused by construction works in close 
proximity to neighbouring boundaries.  

 Assurance sought on removal of Japanese Knotweed and that this will 
not impact on gardens or the surrounding area.  

30



 The ridge height of the new dwellings should be restricted to not 
exceed the new properties to the south or the existing dwellings to the 
east as well as those to the west.  

 Impacts on value of properties and existing residents’ ability to sell. 

 Questioned why the land wasn’t taken into account during the initial 
development of the Crowdhill estate.  

 Tree planting should not exceed the height of the houses. 

 The modern design of the housing not being in-keeping with the 
adjacent more traditionally designed properties.  

 Sufficient space to the site boundaries is required for maintaining 
properties and to facilitate construction works.  

 Boundary walls should be proposed between the site and the 
neighbouring property to the south for noise, maintenance and security 
reasons.  

 A party wall notice would be required to be served on the adjacent 
owner due to the proximity of the new dwellings.  

 
The matters subsequently raised in relation to the amended plans are as 
follows: 
 

 Additional pressures on local infrastructure which is already overloaded.  

 Further loss of green space within the local area.  

 Increases in traffic along Delamere Gardens and concerns regarding the 
safety of the access into the Crowdhill site.  

 Impact of building traffic on foundations of neighbouring buildings and 
upon highway safety.  

 Impacts on wildlife and drainage.  

 The noise assessment does not focus on the surrounding area, only the 
new builds and the noise levels stated are underestimated.  

 Devaluation of property.  

 Overlooking and loss of privacy for existing residents as well as impacts 
from additional pollution generated by the development.  

 The roof height of the proposed dwellings is excessive.  

 The height of new tree planting should be restricted so it cannot exceed 
the height of the houses.  

 A boundary wall should be proposed between the site and the 
neighbouring property to the south as a fence is insufficient.  

 It is unclear whether the proposed fence along the southern boundary 
would enclose the electricity substation which could cause antisocial 
behaviour.  

 
Response to representations 
 
10. The matters raised concerning the potential impact of the development upon 

the value of existing properties or the ability of residents to sell them is not a 
material planning consideration. Similarly, the Party Wall Act and any 
requirements under its provisions would be a civil matter between respective 
private landowners and is not something the local planning authority can advise 
upon. In terms of the extent of the fencing along the southern boundary, this 

31



would not extend as far as the road. As denoted on the submitted site plan, this 
would extend only to the western boundary of plot 8.  
 

11. The other matters raised within the representations received are covered in the 
below assessment of the proposals.  

 
Consultation responses 
 
Fair Oak and Horton Heath Parish Council 
 
12. No objection.  

 
Tree Officer 
 
13. The side of the site facing west into Delamare Gardens contains a number of 

small, newly planted trees. These would have formed an element of the 
conditioned landscape proposal of the Delamare Gardens development – we 
will assess the trees as per our remit and not comment on any other protection 
under condition. The trees are of varying condition, but none have thrived and 
we assume that all would be categorised as C under British Standard 5837 on 
account of their size alone. 
 

14. However, the trees, if removed to facilitate development, will require replacing 
as per the Tree Replacement Policy contained within the Trees and 
Development SPD. As they are category C trees, we will require a minimum of 
1 for 1 replacements. It is important to note that these trees not only have to be 
provided, but also that that the applicant can demonstrate that they can achieve 
maturity. This may involve engineered tree pits where insufficient soil volume 
exists, and enough space to avoid future pressures to prune. We will defer to 
our Landscape colleagues who are better placed to discuss species choice and 
location. 

 
Ecology 
 
15. No objection. The recommendations in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal are 

sound and should be implemented. A hard and soft landscaping plan can be 
conditioned following the recommendations in the ecology report. The surface 
water drainage scheme is appropriate and shall be implemented  

 
Urban Design Officer 
 
16. Whilst one dwelling has been removed [relative to the scheme as originally 

proposed], certain design aspects relating to the street scene and area 
character could still be improved. This includes avoiding tandem parking which 
creates breaks in the street scene and dead frontage, with the accommodating 
of two to three parking spaces per dwelling also negatively impacting housing 
density and, subsequently, the viability of public transport. The development 
continues to create a fairly urban feel in a street that was arguably intended to 
have a softer ‘edge of development’ character. Additional street trees should be 
included to enhance this. 

32



 
A further reduction in housing numbers could create opportunities for more 
significant areas of soft landscape and provide a transition from the sporadic 
ribbon development on Winchester Road to the more formal development to 
the west. It is noted however that public views of the rear elevation of the old 
chapel would now be possible, which is supported. It is also noted that the 
amended elevations now reflect some of the character and feel of the adjacent 
development and it is considered that the two schemes would now sit 
comfortably together. 
 
Access to parking spaces is reliant on the ability to gain direct access from 
Delamere Gardens. Whilst it appears that there is already some right of access 
into the existing site through a field gate, it is still not clear if this right extends 
along the full length of the street and this needs to be confirmed in advance of 
any permission that may be granted. No mention is made, or details provided in 
relation to environmental sustainability or what, if any, sustainability measures 
are proposed for the development.  
 
It is unclear from the Landscape Plan if the proposed access points will enable 
the existing tree planting to be retained. In relation to drainage, if the scheme is 
to link into the neighbouring development, permission for this still needs to be 
confirmed with assurances that the additional capacity required to prevent 
flooding problems is available. 

 
Landscape Officer 
 
17. Overall, the planting proposals as shown are in line with expectations and no 

objection is raised subject to some updates to the landscaping plan including: 
the native hedge to the frontage should be installed alongside a temporary post 
and wire fence to support the planting whilst it establishes; the trees to the 
frontage should be moved out of the hedgerow and into the grass verge to 
allow more space for them to thrive; the species proposed to the rear gardens 
should be changed (fruit trees are suggested as an alternative to the Cherry 
trees proposed) and moved out of the hornbeam hedges; and, clarification is 
required on the nature of the gravel driveways proposed.  

 
Hampshire County Council Highways  
 
18. No objection subject to conditions to require the submission of a construction 

management plan prior to commencement of development and the provision of 
the parking for the dwellings as shown on the approved site plan prior to 
occupation.  

 
Hampshire County Council Flood and Water Management 
 
19. No comments to make.   
 
Southern Water 
 

33



20. No objection subject to a condition to require final details of the proposed 
means of foul and surface water disposal for the scheme prior to 
commencement of development. Southern Water also advised that a formal 
connection to the public foul sewer will be required to be made by the applicant 
or developer and that measures for the long-term maintenance of the surface 
water drainage scheme will be necessitated.  

 
Environmental Health 
 
21. Comments on initial submission: 

 
The application is accompanied by a Noise Impact Assessment, however there 
are concerns that the noise levels measured are not representative of ordinary 
conditions with life and business activities being indirectly affected by 
coronavirus in 2020. While lockdown measures have been relaxed, it is 
apparent that community and businesses are busier but still not back to 
ordinary levels of activity and there is concern therefore that the noise levels 
under-represent future noise exposure of the dwellings. This uncertainty has 
not been approached in the noise impact assessment and the following points 
should be addressed by the applicant: 

 

 Exposure of dwellings, garden rooms / studios and gardens to represent 
future or ordinarily levels of road traffic noise.  

 Maximum noise levels to also be quantified and allowed for in the design.  

 Reconsider the height of the noise barrier and type of material to minimise 
noise exposure to the development and avoid side effect to existing 
adjacent dwellings and dwellings on the opposite side of the B3354 
Winchester Road.  

 Recalculation of noise levels and presentation in table and contour 
formats.  

 Allow for tolerance and uncertainty in the design of dwellings and the 
garden room / studios.  

 Allow for prevention of overheating and for purge in the ventilation design.  

 Regarding the adequacy of the trickle ventilators proposed, if opening 
windows to prevent overheating and to purge cannot be avoided, the 
Local Planning Authority’s noise limits would be exceeded. 

 
22. Updated comments are awaited from Environmental Health on a revised noise 

assessment which has subsequently been submitted in response to the initial 
comments set out above.  

 
Policy context: designation applicable to site 
 

 Within Designated Countryside 

 Within Flood Zone 1 

 Within Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening Area 
 

Legislative provisions, development plan saved policies, emerging local plan 
policies, SPD’s and National planning policy 

34



 
Legislative provisions 
 
23. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a local planning 
authority determining an application to do so in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

The Development Plan 
 
24. The Development Plan is the starting point for the consideration and 

determination of this application and this comprises of the Saved Policies within 
the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 (adopted May 2006). 
Accordingly, the application must be assessed against those that are relevant 
to the proposals. 

 
The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 
 
25. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 (the adopted Local Plan) 

was adopted in May 2006. In November 2008, the Council submitted a list of 
proposed Saved Policies to the Secretary of State with a request that they be 
saved until they could be replaced by a new Local Development Framework. 
Within the adopted Local Plan, the site falls outside of the urban edge and 
within designated countryside. The below policies were saved and are 
considered to be of relevance to the development proposals: 
 

 1.CO (Protection of the countryside) 

 25 and 26.NC (Biodiversity) 

 28.ES (Waste collection and recycling) 

 30.ES (Noise sensitive development) 

 31.ES (Residential development and noise) 

 37.ES (Environmental sustainability) 

 45.ES (Sustainable drainage requirements) 

 59.BE (Promoting good design) 

 72.H (Housing densities) 

 100.T (Transport and new development) 

 102.T (Highway access) 

 104.T (Parking) 
 

Emerging Local Plan Policies 
 
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014: 
 
26. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination in 

July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient housing was being 
provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  While the Plan has not been 
withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can therefore be considered 
to have extremely limited weight in the determination of this application.  

 

35



The Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036: 
 
27. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 was submitted to the Planning 

Inspectorate on 31st October 2018 and the examination hearings concluded in 
January 2020. The Council received the Inspector’s post-Hearing advice on 1 
April 2020, with modifications to the plan having been subsequently consulted 
upon and responded to. The Council is now awaiting the Inspector’s report, with 
a view to progressing the plan to adoption, anticipated in late 2022. Given the 
status of the Emerging Plan, it is considered that overall considerable weight 
can be attributed to it. 
 

28. Within the Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036, the site falls 
within the realigned urban edge. The following policies of the Submitted Plan 
are of relevance to the development proposals: S1 (Delivering Sustainable 
Development), S2 (Approach to New Development), DM1 (General Criteria for 
New Development), DM2 (Environmentally Sustainable Development), DM3 
(Adaptation to Climate Change), DM6 (Sustainable Surface Water 
Management and Watercourse Management), DM8 (Pollution), (DM11 (Nature 
Conservation), DM13 (General Development Criteria – Transport), DM14 
(Parking), DM23 (Residential Development in Urban Areas), DM26 (Creating a 
Mix of Housing), (DM32 (Internal Space Standards for New Residential 
Development). 
 

Supplementary planning documents / associated guidance 
 

 Quality Places 

 Residential Parking Standards 

 Trees and Development (Emerging SPD) 
 
National planning policy and guidance 
 
29. At a national level, The National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the 

‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the 
determination of planning applications. The NPPF states that development 
proposals which accord with the development plan should be approved without 
delay. Where the development plan is absent, silent, or relevant policies are 
out-of-date, planning permission should be granted unless: the application of 
policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance 
provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole. 
 

30. The Planning Practice Guidance provides additional guidance in support of the 
Framework and should be afforded weight in the consideration of planning 
applications.  

 
Assessment of proposal 
 
Principle of development 
 

36



31. The application site lies within designated countryside within the adopted Local 
Plan where there is a general presumption against new residential development 
(Saved Policy 1.CO). Since the adoption of the current local plan however, the 
context of the site has changed significantly with the development of the land to 
the immediate south and west for residential purposes in the form of 330no. 
dwellings (known as Crowdhill Green) as set out in the ‘planning history’ section 
above.  
 

32. The approval for that development followed the proposed allocation of the land 
for housing under policy FO1 of the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
2011-2029, with the draft allocation including the site that is the subject of the 
current application, albeit this was not subsequently included within the redline 
for the Crowdhill Green scheme. The western part of the wider Crowdhill Green 
site had also been identified as a Reserve Housing Site (Land at Hardings 
Lane, Fair Oak) within the adopted plan under policy 82.H. Whilst the 2011-
2029 plan was not proceeded with, Crowdhill Green has now been developed 
and, following the proposed modifications, the Emerging Eastleigh Local Plan 
2016-2036 proposes to incorporate it, along with the land to the rear of 
Oakfields which is the subject of this application, into the urban edge boundary 
and as such it would no longer fall within designated countryside. Given the 
advanced stage that the Emerging Plan has reached in the examination 
process, it is considered that considerable weight can be attributed to it in 
decision making.  
 

33. Taking account of these factors, the general principle of further residential 
development on the application site is considered to be acceptable. Any 
planning approval is however subject to the specific proposal put forward being 
appropriate in terms of its siting, scale and appearance, as well as in respect of 
its impacts upon the character of its surroundings, upon residential amenity, 
trees, ecology and in relation to highway related considerations. These matters 
are considered in the sections below.  

 
Sustainable Development  
 

34. Section 2 of the NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to 
contribute to the achievement of sustainable development, which can be 
summarised as meeting the needs of the present without compromising the 
ability of future generations to meet their own needs.  

 
35. Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three 

over-arching objectives which are set out within the Framework – these are 
economic, social and environmental which are interdependent and need to be 
pursued in mutually supportive ways. The Framework goes on to state that 
planning policies and decisions should play an active role in guiding 
development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so, should take local 
circumstances into account to reflect the character, needs and opportunities of 
each area. Each of the three dimensions of sustainable development is 
considered in turn in the sections below.  

 
Economic and social sustainability  

37



 
36. Paragraph 8 of the NPPF sets out that the economic objective of sustainable 

development is “to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by 
ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right places and 
at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; and by 
identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure”. Paragraph 60 goes 
on to state that “to support the Government’s objective of significantly boosting 
the supply of homes, it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land 
can come forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific 
housing requirements are addressed and that land with permission is 
developed without unnecessary delay.” 
 

37. The proposals would provide for some economic and social benefits. These 
include employment opportunities that would be created during the construction 
phase of the development, which will in turn result in increased spending within 
the local economy, for example on materials, goods and other services. In 
addition, the future occupiers of the residential properties would be likely to 
support local services and facilities, and a New Homes Bonus would also be 
paid. Whilst the Council can currently demonstrate in excess of a 5-year supply 
of housing, nonetheless the scheme would provide for an additional 8 open 
market dwellings and thereby make a contribution, albeit modest, towards 
housing need within the Borough which is a social benefit of the scheme.  
 

38. These elements are benefits of the development that would be considered in 
the planning balance and, overall, it is considered that the development would 
be economically and socially sustainable. However, it should be noted that 
these benefits are not unique to this scheme and could be accrued from a 
development of this size in a different location.  

 
Environmental sustainability  
 
39. The context of the site and the nature and scale of the development is such that 

the proposals have the potential to impact on a number of environmental 
factors with these being discussed in detail below.  

 
Layout, design, landscaping and impact on the character of the area  
 
40. The application proposes the construction of 8 dwellings within a linear 

arrangement with properties fronting onto Delamere Gardens to the west. The 
scheme provides a mix of market housing in the form of 4no. 3-bedroom 
properties set within semi-detached pairs, along with 4no. detached 4-bedroom 
dwellings. The design and form of the houses has largely been informed by the 
existing dwellings to the opposing side of Delamere Gardens, with properties 
being two-storeys in height with gable-ended roof forms and picking up on 
existing architectural details such as projecting centralised gable features that 
are present on detached buildings, the use of canopy porches, brick window 
cills and brick banding. The combination of their design, the mix of house types 
and the use of a similar and varied palette of materials including red brick, light 
coloured render, plain hanging tiles and slate roof treatments, provides for 
visual interest within the street scene and helps to integrate the development 

38



into the Delamere Gardens setting, whilst still respecting the local vernacular of 
its wider surroundings including the properties to the immediate east along 
Winchester Road. 
 

41. Whilst the comments of the Council’s Urban Designer are noted in terms of the 
development having an urban feel, in this case this is not considered to be 
unacceptable given the formal and urban nature of the development to the 
opposing side of Delamere Gardens which the proposed scheme would form 
part of and within which it would predominantly be visually read. It is also 
evident that when moving along Winchester Road past the existing dwellings 
which lie to the immediate east of the site, the Crowdhill development behind is 
already visually apparent. It is not considered therefore that introducing further 
buildings of this nature in this position would undermine the wider character of 
this section of Winchester Road, with the orientation of the new properties such 
that they back onto the existing dwellings with their amenity areas in between, 
still allowing for a suitable degree of separation between buildings such that the 
new development would not visually or physically dominate the existing.  
 

42. In terms of other elements of the layout, parking is provided on plot with this 
being sited either to the rear (in the case of plots 2 and 3) or alongside 
dwellings (for the remaining plots) in line with the provisions of the Council’s 
Quality Places SPD which encourages in-curtilage parking for individual houses 
to be set to the side or behind the building line of dwellings, rather than to the 
front where it can visually detract from the appearance of buildings and the 
character of the street scene. Whilst the parking for plots 2 and 3 is perhaps a 
little unconventional and does encroach to a degree into the amenity areas for 
these properties, the proposed arrangement is necessitated by the requirement 
for an underground rainwater attenuation tank as part of the surface water 
drainage system (see below section on drainage). The provision of the parking 
in this form does also serve to limit its visual impact from the road as well as 
allowing views to be maintained through the site towards Oakfields which is an 
attractive character building in the locality. The properties would also still have 
good sized amenity areas as set out in the below section on ‘residential 
amenity’.  
 

43. With regards to landscape considerations, the existing verge which lies 
alongside Delamare Gardens includes a total of 8no. trees which had formed 
part of the approved landscaping scheme for the larger development to the 
west. These trees would need to be removed in order to facilitate the proposed 
development given the positioning of the buildings and the need to provide 
access points to the new dwellings. The trees are of varying condition as set 
out within the submitted tree report and as noted by the Council’s Tree Officer, 
none have thrived with the trees likely to be ‘Category C’ trees on their size 
alone.  
 

44. BS5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction – 
Recommendations denotes Category C trees as being Trees of low quality with 
an estimated remaining life expectancy of at least 10 years, or young trees with 
a stem diameter below 150mm. This document goes on to state that “whilst the 
presence of young trees of good form and vitality is generally desirable (i.e. 

39



those trees which have the potential to develop into quality mature specimens), 
they need not necessarily be a significant constraint on the site’s potential”. On 
this basis, and taking account of their variable condition, the Council’s Tree 
Officer has raised no objection to their removal providing that an appropriate 
landscape solution is put forward as part of the scheme, having regard to the 
provisions of the Council’s Emerging Supplementary Planning Document Trees 
and Development. 
 

45. In this regard, a revised landscaping scheme has been submitted as part of the 
amendments to the development proposals and following on from input from 
the Council’s Landscape Officer. This proposes the planting of 5 trees along the 
site frontage with Delamere Gardens of the species Acer Campestre ‘William 
Caldwell’, a fastigiate tree recommended by the Landscape Officer, with this 
being proposed to be planted with a Rootspace system which is designed for 
maximum soil and rooting volume, to allow for healthy and robust tree growth 
within this setting.  
 

46. Whilst the provision of 5 trees in place of the 8 currently present would be 
below the 1:1 requirement within the aforementioned emerging SPD, there is 
insufficient space for further planting to the front of plots 1 to 3 given the more 
advanced position of the buildings, which is necessary to provide suitable 
separation distances and privacy to the existing dwellings to the rear. 
Notwithstanding this and in this particular case, it is considered preferable to 
plant trees that are appropriate for the setting in a manner which gives them the 
maximum potential to thrive as opposed to planting trees in inappropriate 
locations where their lifespan would be more limited.  
 

47. The tree planting is also proposed to be supplemented by a native hedgerow 
which will provide further visual softening and landscape continuity across the 
length of the site frontage, with additional native hedgerows and landscape 
planting within private gardens, as well as further tree planting in the form of 8 
trees which will provide for good canopy coverage overall. Whilst some updates 
to the landscape plan have been requested by the Landscape Officer, subject 
to these being suitably addressed and taking account of the above factors 
including the condition of the existing trees and their limited future potential, it is 
considered that an appropriate landscaping solution is proposed. The separate 
consent of the landowner of the verge will be required to remove the existing 
trees and an informative will be added to the decision notice in this regard.  

 
48. Overall, it is considered that the development is acceptable in terms of layout, 

design and impact on the character of the area and that it achieves the balance 
advocated within national planning policy of making efficient use of land and 
achieving appropriate densities, whilst at the same time respecting the 
character of the area, and securing well-designed, attractive places. The 
development is therefore considered to comply with Saved Policy 59.BE of the 
adopted Local Plan in these respects.  

 
Residential amenity and noise 
 

40



49. With regards to the matter of residential amenity, there are two main 
considerations. These are the impact that the development proposals would 
have upon the occupiers of existing neighbouring properties and the level and 
appropriateness of the amenity that would be afforded for the future residents 
of the proposed dwellings themselves. These matters are each dealt with in 
turn below.  
 

50. With regards to the latter of these two first of all, the dwellings would provide 
sufficient internal floor space for future residents to live comfortably with all 
properties exceeding the minimum requirements of the government’s nationally 
described space standards. Habitable rooms would also benefit from good 
levels of light and outlook and the dwellings would not be unduly overlooked, 
either by one another or by existing neighbouring buildings. In terms of external 
space, the Council’s Quality Places SPD requires the provision of a private 
area of usable amenity space that is equivalent to a minimum of 60% of the 
internal floor space of the dwelling to which it relates. This requirement would 
be exceeded in the case of each dwelling, with garden areas also being 
considered to be of appropriate depths and configuration.  
 

51. The new dwellings do have the potential to be impacted by traffic noise from 
Winchester Road which has been recognised within the Acoustic Assessment 
which accompanies the application. This assessment puts forward mitigation 
measures to seek to achieve an appropriate acoustic environment for the 
dwellings both within habitable rooms as well as within private amenity areas, 
with this being in the form of fencing to the rear boundary of the plots, glazing 
specifications, as well as alternative means of ventilation for rear facing 
bedroom windows. Following the initial comments of the Council’s 
Environmental Health Officer (EHO) which are summarised earlier in this 
report, the Acoustic Assessment has been updated, with further comments on 
this being awaited from the EHO. Members will be updated on this matter at the 
committee meeting.  
 

52. In terms of the impacts on existing occupiers and with regards to the issue of 
privacy, the Council’s Quality Places SPD sets outs a requirement for a 22m 
separation distance between first floor rear facing windows between new and 
existing dwellings. This would be achieved in the case of the relationship 
between plots 1 and 2 and Hill Cottage to the east, although the distance 
between plot 3 and Oakfields would fall below the requirement. This is however 
to a fairly modest degree (by just under 2m) with the rear elevation of the new 
dwelling being designed in a manner such that there is only a single bedroom 
window present (in addition to an obscure glazed bathroom window) which 
provides a more angled view between the relative first floor windows on the two 
dwellings. Taking account of these factors, the resulting relationship is not 
considered to be unacceptable in this case with the impacts not being deemed 
to be such as to justify the refusal of planning permission.  
 

53. There is no specific standard within the Council’s adopted guidance in respect 
of the distance between dwellings facing one another on opposing sides of the 
street in a ‘front-to-front’ arrangement and this is therefore very much context 
dependent. Such an arrangement however is not unusual within residential 

41



areas and the separation distance in this case, which is a minimum of 
approximately 12 metres, is not considered to be unreasonable with examples 
of similar or lesser distances between properties evident elsewhere within the 
adjacent housing development (for example, between 40 and 71 Delamere 
Gardens and 36 and 37 Chiltern Crescent).  
 

54. The separation distances are also considered sufficient to ensure that the 
development will not unacceptably affect light to or outlook from neighbouring 
residential properties. The scheme has been redesigned during the course of 
the application process to move the dwelling on what is now plot 8 (formerly 
plot 9) further away from the southern perimeter of the site, with its driveway 
now being positioned in between this boundary and the new building in order to 
provide a greater degree of separation and mitigate the potential for the 
development to be unduly overbearing to the occupiers of No. 8 Savernake 
Way. The windows contained within the facing side of plot 8 at ground floor 
level will be screened by the proposed boundary fencing, whilst the upper floor 
window is proposed to obscure-glazed. A condition will be imposed to specify 
the level of obscurity of the window and to restrict it to a top-hung opening top-
light in order to prevent undue overlooking.  
 

55. The matter of the potential for disturbance resulting from the new dwellings has 
also been raised within some of the neighbour representations received, with 
this being both in respect of the construction and operational phases of the 
development. In respect of the latter, whilst noise at times may be generated by 
future residents associated with their general occupation of the dwellings, for 
example, vehicle movements, use of amenity areas, etc. this would in itself not 
be considered to be unreasonable or unexpected within a residential area. 
Should such noise at any point become excessive, there are separate 
legislative provisions relating to statutory nuisance under which this could be 
investigated by the Council’s Environmental Health Team.  
 

56. Finally, with regards to construction related impacts, it is acknowledged that 
development works can cause a degree of disruption during the course of their 
undertaking. Planning permission cannot be refused on these grounds however 
the impacts can be sought to be managed through the planning process to 
minimise the level of impact as far as reasonably possible. Conditions are 
therefore proposed to restrict construction hours and prevent on site burning, 
as well as to require the submission of a construction management plan prior to 
the commencement of development which will cover such matters as contractor 
parking, delivery arrangements and mitigation measures for dust and noise.  
 

57. Subject to the resolution of the outstanding matters in relation to the submitted 
Acoustic Assessment, the development is considered to comply with Saved 
Policy 59.BE (vii.) of the adopted Local Plan, as well as the requirements of the 
NPPF and the Council’s Quality Places SPD in respect of residential amenity.  

 
Highway matters 
 
58. Access in and out of the wider site onto Winchester Road is available by way of 

a relatively recent junction implemented as part of the Crowdhill Green 

42



development. This is sufficient for the additional units that would result from the 
proposals in terms of its capacity and conforms to current standards of visibility 
and design. Direct access into the new dwellings would be from Delamere 
Gardens with this being in the form of five dropped-kerb entrance points, three 
of which are shared (between plots 2 and 3, 4 and 5, and 6 and 7). These 
access points are acceptable in highways terms, with a 6m aisle width available 
within the ‘parking court’ serving plots 2 and 3. It is understood that Delamere 
Gardens is being put forward by the adjacent developer for adoption by the 
highway authority, although at present it remains unadopted. As such, the 
separate consent of the adjacent developer will be required to allow for the 
provision of the proposed driveways / entrance points and it is understood from 
the applicant that this is already in place.  
 

59. Whilst the development will generate a degree of additional vehicle movements 
along Delamere Road, given the modest number of units proposed, these will 
be relatively limited with the transport statement accompanying the application 
setting out that this will equate to just 5 AM peak movements and 4 PM peak 
movements and an overall daily average of 43 two-way traffic movements. 
Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented 
or refused on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would 
be severe. The limited number of additional movements would not be 
considered to meet this threshold and no objection has been raised to the 
application by the highway authority. 
 

60. With regards to parking provision, the Council’s adopted Residential Parking 
Standards SPD requires that 3 on-plot spaces are provided for 4-bedroom 
dwellings and 2 spaces for 3-bedroom properties. These would be available 
through a combination of driveways, single garages and a shared parking court 
area for plots 2 and 3. Whilst ‘trandem’ parking is proposed which is not always 
the most ideal arrangement, this is for a small number of plots (plot 1 and plot 
4) and is not considered to be unacceptable in this particular case with it 
already being evident in the vicinity of the site, including on the opposing side of 
Delamere Gardens.  
 

61. Whilst the comments of the Council’s Urban Designer on the number of parking 
spaces are noted in the context of seeking to encourage sustainable travel, in 
this case and in this location, it is considered essential that parking standards 
are met on-plot in order to discourage overspill parking into Delamere Gardens 
in the interests of highway safety. Secure cycle storage would however be 
provided within the curtilage of each dwelling to encourage the use of this 
sustainable mode of transport. Unit specific on-site bin storage would also be 
provided in accordance with the Council’s required standards.   
 

62. Taking account of the above factors, the development is considered to be 
acceptable in highway terms and in this regard the application thereby complies 
with Saved Policies 100.T, 102.T and 104.T of the adopted Local Plan, the 
provisions of the NPPF, and the guidance contained within the Council’s 
adopted Residential Parking Standards SPD.  
 

43



Ecology  
 
63. The application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal which seeks 

to identify any potentially important ecological features that may be affected by 
the proposed development and makes recommendations for mitigation where 
necessitated, as well as measures to enhance the site for biodiversity. The 
Appraisal sets out that the habitat types on site comprise of tall ruderal, bare 
ground, hard standing and amenity grassland with the latter being the dominant 
habitat which encapsulates the vast majority of the site. This grassland has 
undergone mowing operations and was noted as being very low in terms of 
species diversity. Due to the absence of buildings or trees on the site, it was 
also considered to have negligible potential for roosting bats and low potential 
for foraging and commuting. In addition, the survey identified a small section of 
Japanese Knotweed towards the south-eastern corner of the site which 
continued within the wooden stables within the adjacent plot.  
 

64. The Ecological Appraisal sets out a range of mitigation and enhancement 
measures for biodiversity, both in respect of the construction and operational 
phases of the development. These include covering excavations over night or 
providing escape ladders for badgers to prevent them becoming trapped; the 
installation of hedgehog access holes in close boarded fencing to allow small 
mammals to be able to move through the site; integral bird and bat bricks within 
the new dwellings; native planting proposals; recommendations in relation to 
sensitive lighting to minimise any impacts on bats; and a recommendation for a 
programme of eradication for Japanese Knotweed. The Council’s Ecologist has 
reviewed the submitted information in the context of the development proposals 
and has raised no objection subject to conditions which are recommended 
accordingly.  

 
Drainage 
 
65. With regards to the drainage provisions associated with the proposals, foul 

drainage would be discharged to the existing foul sewer within Delamere 
Gardens, with the submitted details setting out that there is sufficient capacity 
to allow for this. Southern Water have raised no objection in principle to this 
arrangement subject to a condition requiring final details of the drainage 
scheme to be submitted for approval prior to commencement of development. 
A separate application (outside of the planning process) will also be needed to 
be made to Southern Water for the connection to the public sewer network.  

 
66. The site falls within Flood Zone 1 where residential development is considered 

appropriate in principle. For surface water, the development proposes to utilise 
the existing drainage provisions for Delamere Gardens, with this comprising of 
a system of collector pipes discharging into underground storage which would 
be located beneath the accessway for plots 2 and 3. The underground storage 
will discharge at a rate not exceeding one litre per second to the chain of 
balancing ponds serving Delamere Gardens. This rate of discharge is lower 
than the green field flow rate from the site, with the submitted information 
demonstrating that sufficient storage will be included to ensure no overflow of 
the drainage system will occur for storm events up to the 1 in 100-year event, 

44



plus 40% extra rainfall depth to allow for climate change, in the lifetime of the 
development. 

 
67. In respect of water quality, as the surface water drainage system serving 

Delamere Gardens includes sufficient treatment for the use of the development, 
with the existing chain of balancing ponds providing for settlement and 
vegetative treatment of discharged water, the proposed drainage provisions 
which discharge into these will ensure control of pollution and sediment 
removal are achieved in accordance with the requirements of the SuDS Manual 
and the Council’s own drainage requirements. This arrangement has been 
accepted by the Council’s Ecologist as sufficient to ensure that the 
development does not adversely impact upon water quality within the European 
protected Solent Complex. Overall, the information provided is considered to 
adequately demonstrate that appropriate provisions can be made for foul and 
surface water drainage to serve the development, with the final exact details to 
be controlled by condition.  

 
68. Finally, in terms of the matter of connecting into the existing systems which has 

been highlighted by the Council’s Urban Designer, the drainage details 
provided with the application state that covenants registered with the Land 
Registry give the owner of Oakfields unfettered access to the Delamere 
Gardens highway and to all its services, including foul and surface water 
drainage.  

 
Nitrates impacts 

 
69. The water environment within the Solent region is one of the most important for 

wildlife in the United Kingdom. It is internationally recognised and is protected 
under the Water Environment Regulations and the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). Natural England have advised 
that there are high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus input to this water 
environment with evidence that these nutrients are causing eutrophication at 
these designated sites. These nutrient inputs currently mostly come either from 
agricultural sources or from wastewater from existing housing and other 
development. The resulting dense mats of green algae and other effects on the 
marine ecology resulting from an excessive presence of nutrients are impacting 
on the Solent’s protected habitats and bird species. There is presently 
uncertainty as to whether new growth will further deteriorate designated sites 
and whilst this uncertainty remains, Natural England have advised that new 
housing developments across the Solent region have the potential to 
exacerbate these impacts and create a risk to their future conservation status. 
 

70. The Council, as the responsible body for Habitats Regulations Assessments 
under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations, must ensure as 
part of a planning application that a development will not have an adverse 
impact on any European protected sites or the features for which they are 
designated and the above-mentioned impacts are therefore required to be 
mitigated. One way in which to address this issue is for new development to 
achieve nutrient neutrality which is a means of ensuring that development does 
not add to existing nutrient burdens and provide certainty that the scheme is 

45



deliverable in line with the requirements of these Regulations.  
 

71. The Council has adopted a strategy whereby it will identify areas of agricultural 
land and remove them from a nitrate intensive use, which would provide 
mitigation through offsetting the impacts of a development. This will ensure no 
net increase in nitrates within the Solent complex and thereby allow a 
development to achieve nutrient neutrality. In order to do this, the Council 
calculates the level of nitrate mitigation this land provides (measured in kg) and 
makes ‘nitrate credits’ available to developers to buy, with the securing of the 
required funding being done through the S106 process. The charge for these 
credits includes estimated costs of land purchase and ongoing maintenance. 
The applicant has proposed to utilise this scheme as a means of offsetting the 
impacts of the development. The requisite contributions will need to be secured 
via a legal agreement. A Habitats Regulations Appropriate Assessment has 
been undertaken by the local planning authority to set out the potential effects 
on the European protected site and the mitigation measures proposed to 
address these, with comments being awaited from Natural England upon this.  

 
Environmentally sustainable development and climate change 
 
72. Saved Policies 34.ES and 37.ES of the adopted local plan require development 

to be sustainable in terms of climate change and resource and energy use, 
whilst the NPPF within Paragraph 8 as part of the environmental objective of 
sustainable development, states that development should use natural 
resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to 
climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy. 

 
73. All planning applications should therefore be tested for their resilience to and 

impact on the environment. The environmental implications of this application 
are detailed throughout this report and proposed mitigation measures can be 
secured through conditions to include requirements for low energy and water 
use infrastructure for the proposed dwellinghouses, tree planting and 
landscaping, sustainable urban drainage measures, and ecological protection 
and habitat enhancements, should permission be granted. 

 
Equalities implications 
 
74. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. 

Section149 states that: 
 

(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to 
the need to: 
 

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 
conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; 
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 

46



When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the equality 
duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups.  

 
75. It is not considered that this application raises any equality implications. 
 
Other material considerations 
 
76. None. 

 
Conclusion 
 
77. In conclusion, whilst the site lies within designated countryside within the 

adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2001-2011 where there is a general 
presumption against residential development, in this case there are sufficient 
material considerations that weigh in favour of the proposals to justify a 
decision otherwise than in accordance with the development plan. These 
notably include the major residential development scheme adjoining the site to 
the south and west which has been undertaken since the adoption of the 
current Local Plan and has significantly altered the character and context of the 
site, as well as the intention to incorporate the application site into the urban 
edge within the Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 which has 
reached an advanced stage within the examination process and, as such, can 
be afforded considerable weight in decision making.  
 

78. The scheme is also considered to be acceptable in layout and design, and 
achieves the balance advocated within national planning policy of making 
efficient use of land and achieving appropriate densities, whilst at the same 
time respecting the character of the area and securing well-designed, attractive 
places. The development is also acceptable in terms of its highway impacts, as 
well as in respect of ecology, drainage, trees and residential amenity. Overall, 
therefore and subject to the receipt of the outstanding comments of 
Environmental Health and Natural England, the receipt of an updated 
landscaping plan, and the applicant entering into a legal agreement to secure 
the requisite contributions for nutrient neutrality, the proposals comply with local 
and national planning policy provisions and are considered to constitute 
sustainable development.  

 
 
 
 

47



 

48



 
 
 
BFOHH – Bishopstoke, Fair Oak and Horton Heath Local Area Committee 9 March 
2022.  
 

Application 
Number: 

 
F/21/91132 

Case Officer: David Huckfield 
Received Date: 21/07/2021 
Site Address: Treetops, Allington Lane, Fair Oak, Eastleigh, SO50 7DB 
Applicant: Vistry Group  
Proposal: Demolition of all existing buildings on site and erection of 35 

residential dwellings with vehicular access from Allington 
Lane and associated infrastructure, hard and soft 
landscaping, open space and drainage. 

 
Recommendation:  
 

 

Subject to:  
 

i) the receipt and consideration of outstanding consultation responses from 
Hampshire County Council (HCC) Children’s Services, HCC 
Archaeology, the Council’s Landscape Officer, and Natural England;  

 
ii) any necessary updates to conditions and reasons; and 
 
iii) the applicant entering into a legal agreement to secure the required 

planning obligations and affordable housing 
 
To Delegate back to the Executive Head for Planning and Economy in consultation 
with the Chair and Vice Chair of Bishopstoke, Fair Oak and Horton Heath Local Area 
Committee to PERMIT subject to the following conditions: 
 

 
 

CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 

the following plans numbered: S101 Revision B, S102 Revision B, C101 
Revision F, C108 Revision C, P101 Revision J, P102 Revision E, P103 
Revision E, P105 Revision D, P106 Revision D, P107 Revision D, P108 
Revision C, P109, P130, P131, P132, P133, P134, P135 Revision A, P136 
Revision A, P137, P138, P139, P140, P141, P12, P143, P144, P145, P146, 
P147 Revision A, P148 Revision A, P149 Revision A, P150 Revision A, P151, 
p152 Revision A, P153, P154, S101 Revision B, S102 Revision B, C101 
Revision F, C108 Revision C, P101 Revision J, P102 Revision E, P103 
Revision E, P105 Revision D, P106 Revision D, P107 Revision D, P108 
Revision C, P109, P130, P131, P132, P133, P134, P135 Revision A, P136 
Revision A, P137, P138, P139, P140, P141, P12, P143, P144, P145, P146, 
P147 Revision A, P148 Revision A, P149 Revision A, P150 Revision A, P151, 
p152 Revision A, P153, P154, 199.5002.151 Revision C, 199.5002.501 
Revision B (Sheet 1 of 2), 199.5002.501 Revision B (Sheet 2 of 2), 

49

Agenda Item 10



 
 
 

199.5002.503 Revision F (Sheet 1 of 2), 199.5002.504 Revision F (Sheet 2 of 
2), VYH23077 10C, VYH23077-11 Sheet 1, VYH23077-11 Sheet 2, VYH23077-
12 Sheet 1, VYH23077-12 Sheet 2, 199.0002.001 Revision E, 199.0002.002 
Revision F, 199.0002.003 Revision D, 199.0002.004 Revision D, 199.0002.005 
Revision F, 199.0002.007 Revision C, 199.0002.008. 

 
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.  
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the 
date of this decision. Reason:  

 

To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
3. The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 

development hereby permitted shall accord with those detailed on approved 
drawing number P102 Revision E (Building Materials Layout).   

 
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interests of the 

amenities of the area. 
 
4. Prior to the commencement of development, a Construction Environmental 

Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the Local Planning Authority. Demolition and construction work shall only take 
place in accordance with the approved CEMP which shall include:  
 
a)  a programme and phasing of the demolition and construction work; 
b)  the location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction material 

and plant storage areas used during demolition and construction;  
c)  safeguards to be used within the construction process to ensure surface 

water contains no pollutants on leaving the site which should include 
safeguards for fuel and chemical storage and use; 

d)  the arrangements for the routing / turning of lorries and details for 
construction traffic access to the site;  

e)  the arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction works, 
loading / unloading of plant and materials and restoration of any damage 
to the highway [including vehicle crossovers and grass verges];  

f)  the parking of vehicles for site operatives and visitors;  
g)  management measures to control the emission of dust and dirt generated 

by demolition and construction;  
h)  a scheme, following assessment, for controlling noise and vibration 

impacts on noise sensitive properties from demolition, site preparation and 
construction activities (to include details of any piling if proposed);  

i)  provision for the storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the 
development during the construction period;  

j) measures to prevent mud and dust on the highway during demolition and 
construction;  

k)  the erection and maintenance of security hoardings including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing (where appropriate);  

l)  temporary lighting to be used during construction which shall be designed 
in accordance with best practice to protect commuting and foraging bats.  

50



 
 
 

 
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the amenity of the locality 
and neighbouring residents, in the interests of highway safety, and to ensure no 
adverse impact on biodiversity and hydrology during the construction process. 

 
5. No development shall start until the following details have been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: a) plans including cross 
sections to show proposed ground levels and their relationship to existing levels 
both within the site and on immediately adjoining land; and b) the width, 
alignment, gradient, sight lines and type of construction proposed for any roads, 
footpaths and accesses. The development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details.  

 
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the locality, in the interests 
of highway safety and to ensure the roads are built to an appropriate standard. 

 
6. No development shall start on site until the access, including the footway and/or 

verge crossing has been constructed and lines of sight of 2.4 metres by 43.0 
metres provided in accordance with the approved plans. The lines of sight 
splays shown on the approved plans shall be kept free of any obstruction 
exceeding 1 metre in height above the adjacent carriageway and shall be 
subsequently maintained so thereafter. 

 
Reason: To provide satisfactory access and in the interests of highway safety. 

 
7. No development shall start on site until the following details have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA): 
 

(a)  a written report of the findings which includes, a description of the extent, 
scale and nature of contamination, an assessment of all potential risks to 
known receptors, an update of the conceptual site model (devised in the 
desktop study), identification of all contaminant linkages and unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA and identified as unnecessary in 
the written report, an appraisal of remediation options and proposal of the 
preferred option(s) identified as appropriate for the type of contamination 
found on site; and unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the LPA: 

 
(b)  a detailed remediation scheme designed to bring the site to a condition 

suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human 
health, buildings and other property and the natural and historical 
environment. The scheme should include all works to be undertaken, 
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of 
works, site management procedures and a verification plan outlining 
details of the data to be collected in order to demonstrate the completion 
of the remediation works and any arrangements for the continued 
monitoring of identified contaminant linkages. Site works and details 
submitted shall be in accordance with the approved scheme and 
undertaken by a competent person. 

 

51



 
 
 

Site investigations are to be undertaken by a competent person and in 
accordance with best practice as outlined in BS10175:2011+A2:2017 and 
LCRM. Any gas monitoring deemed appropriate is to be in accordance with best 
practice as outlined in such documents as BS8576:2013, BS 
8485:2015+A1:2019, Claire RB17 and CIRIA C665. 

 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and 
other off-site receptors 

 
8. Before any part of the development is occupied or used, unless otherwise first 

agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA), a verification report 
demonstrating the effectiveness of the remediation works carried out and a 
remediation completion certificate confirming that the approved remediation 
scheme has been implemented in full shall both have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the LPA. 

 
The verification report and remediation completion certificate shall be submitted 
in accordance with the approved scheme and undertaken by a competent 
person in accordance with Defra and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’. 

 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and 
other off-site receptors. 

 
9. All development shall be stopped immediately in the event that contamination 

not previously identified is found to be present on the development site and 
details of the contamination shall be reported immediately in writing to the Local 
Planning Authority (LPA).   

 
Development shall not re-start on site until the following details have then been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA: 
 
(a)  a written report of the findings which includes, a description of the extent, 

scale and nature of contamination, an assessment of all potential risks to 
known receptors, an update of the conceptual site model (devised in the 
desktop study), identification of all contaminant linkages and unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA and identified as unnecessary in 
the written report, an appraisal of remediation options and proposal of the 
preferred option(s) identified as appropriate for the type of contamination 
found on site; and (unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the LPA), 

 
(b)   a detailed remediation scheme designed to bring the site to a condition 

suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human 
health, buildings and other property and the natural and historical 

52



 
 
 

environment. The scheme should include all works to be undertaken, 
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of 
works, site management procedures and a verification plan outlining 
details of the data to be collected in order to demonstrate the completion 
of the remediation works and any arrangements for the continued 
monitoring of identified contaminant linkages; and, before any part of the 
development is occupied or used (unless otherwise first agreed in writing 
by the LPA) a verification report demonstrating the effectiveness of the 
remediation works carried out and a completion certificate confirming that 
the approved remediation scheme has been implemented in full shall both 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA.  

 
The above site works, details and certification submitted shall be in accordance 
with the approved scheme and undertaken by a competent person in 
accordance with best practice as outlined in BS10175:2011+A2:2017 and 
LCRM. Any gas monitoring deemed appropriate is to be in accordance with best 
practice as outlined in such documents as BS8576:2013, BS 
8485:2015+A1:2019, Claire RB17 and CIRIA C665. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and 
other off-site receptors. 

 
10. No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until the areas shown on the 

approved plan (drawing number: P107 Revision D (Parking Strategy Layout)) 
for the parking of vehicles associated with that dwelling have been surfaced and 
made available for use. The parking shall then be permanently retained and 
reserved for that purpose at all times.  

 
Reason: To make provision for adequate on-site parking in the interests of 
highway safety. 

 
11. The garages hereby approved shall only be used for the purpose of parking 

private motor vehicles in connection with the residential use of the property and 
shall not, at any time, be used for living accommodation, business, commercial 
or industrial purposes.  

 
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of on-site parking in the interests of 
highway safety.  

 
12. Prior to the undertaking of any demolition works, a scheme for the demolition of 

the existing buildings on site and the safe removal of the asbestos shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The 
development must accord with these approved details. 

 
Reason: In the interests of amenity and public health.  

 

53



 
 
 
13. Prior to the commencement of development, the following details shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority: 
 
• a timetable for the implementation of the foul sewerage and sustainable 

surface water drainage systems to serve the development;  
• final details of the profile, levels, sections and construction of the drainage 

pond to be located towards the south-eastern corner of the site; and  
• details of the final design of the proposed pumping station, including the 

extent of any associated excavations which, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority, shall take place outside of the root 
protection areas of the adjacent trees and under arboricultural supervision.  

 
The foul and surface water drainage provisions for the site shall then be carried 
out in accordance with these approved details along with those contained within 
the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy (Paul Basham 
Associates, 199.5002/FRA&DS/5, January 2022), and Drawing Numbers: 
199.5002.151 Revision C, 199.5002.501 Revision B (Sheet 1 of 2), 
199.5002.501 Revision B (Sheet 2 of 2), 199.5002.503 Revision F (Sheet 1 of 
2), 199.5002.504 Revision F (Sheet 2 of 2).  

 
Reason: To secure satisfactory drainage of the development and to ensure no 
impact arises on the Solent Complex from pollution or changes in flow as a 
result of the occupation and use of the development, and in the interests of 
protecting the existing trees which form an important part of the amenity of the 
locality. 

 
14. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of the 

long-term maintenance arrangements for the surface water drainage system 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The submitted details shall include the following and once approved shall be 
adhered to in full for the lifetime of the development: 

 
a) Plan(s) detailing the ownership of each drainage feature; 
b) Maintenance schedules for each drainage feature type and ownership; 

and 
c) Details of the company or body who will be responsible for the ongoing 

management and maintenance of the SuDS system.  
 

Reason: To safeguard the long-term effectiveness of the surface water drainage 
system in the interests of preventing the occurrence of flooding and pollution, 
securing satisfactory drainage and ensuring that no impact arises on the Solent 
Complex from pollution or changes in flow as a result of the occupation and use 
of the development. 

 
15. The first occupation of the 35th dwelling on the site shall not take place until 

written verification by an appropriate drainage consultant of the full 
implementation of the approved Sustainable Drainage System has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

54



 
 
 

Reason: To prevent the occurrence of flooding and pollution, to secure 
satisfactory drainage for the development and to ensure no impact arises on the 
Solent Complex from pollution or changes in flow as a result of the occupation 
and use of the development. 

 
16. Within 2 months of the completion (including landscaping) of any ponds, lakes 

or above ground attenuation features forming part of the sustainable drainage 
system hereby approved, details of a risk assessment addressing the need for 
any fencing around the features shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The submitted details shall include a timetable for 
implementation of any required fences and the approved details shall be carried 
out in full.  

 
Reason: In the interests of public safety.   

 
17. The hard and soft landscaping, tree planting and boundary treatments for the 

development, shall be carried out and thereafter maintained in accordance with 
the following approved details and all works shall be carried out to the 
appropriate British Standard: Drawing numbers VYH23077 10C, VYH23077-11 
Sheet 1, VYH23077-11 Sheet 2, VYH23077-12 Sheet 1, VYH23077-12 Sheet 2, 
P103 Revision E, and Soft Landscape Management and Maintenance Plan 
(ACD Environmental, VYH23077man Revision A) and Soft Landscape 
Specification (ACD Environmental, VYH23077spec Revision A). 

 
Reason: In the interests of amenity and biodiversity.  

 
18. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

Landscape Enhancement Management Plan (Ecosupport, 14 January 2022) 
and the Ecological mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures 
detailed within Section 6 of the submitted Updated Ecological Assessment 
(Ecosupport, 22 February 2022). The measures shall be implemented in full 
and, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority, a 
report of compliance with the approved details shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to first occupation of 30th 
dwelling hereby approved. This report shall also include details of the 
organisation or body responsible for the ongoing management and 
maintenance of the measures where applicable.  

 
 Reason: In the interests of amenity and biodiversity.  
 
19. For a period of no less than 10 years after planting, any trees or plants which 

are removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced 
as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of the same species, size and 
number as originally approved in the landscaping scheme.  

 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to safeguard 
the amenities of neighbouring residents. 

 
20. The development must accord with the arboricultural report reference 

VYH23077aia_ams Rev B. No excavation, demolition or development related 

55



 
 
 

works shall commence until the tree protection measures have been installed 
as per the tree protection plan reference VYH23077-03 Rev B. Once installed, 
no access by vehicles or placement of goods, chemicals, fuels, soil or other 
materials shall take place within the protected area. Tree protection measures 
shall be retained in their approved form for the duration of the work and may 
only be modified subject to written agreement from the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: To retain and protect the existing trees which form an important part of 
the amenity of the locality. 

 
21. Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling hereby approved (or, in accordance 

with a timetable to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority), as 
built stage SAP data and an as built stage water calculator confirming energy 
efficiency and the predicted internal mains water consumption to achieve the 
following shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority: In respect of energy efficiency, a standard of a 19% improvement of 
dwelling emission rate over the target emission rate as set in the 2013 Building 
Regulations; in respect of water consumption, a maximum predicted internal 
mains water consumption of 105 litres/person/day. The development shall not 
be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To support a comprehensive approach to high quality design across 
the site; in line with the guidance set out in the Government's Ministerial 
Statement of 25 March 2015 which states that Local Planning Authorities 
should, from the date of its publication, take into account the government's 
intentions in the statement (and not set conditions with requirements above a 
Code level 4 equivalent). 

 

22. Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of any 
external lighting, including street lighting, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Lighting shall be designed to avoid 
disturbance to commuting and foraging bats and the development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: In the interests of biodiversity, highway safety and protecting the 
amenities of the area. 

 
23. No development above slab level shall take place until details of the alternative 

methods of ventilation and proposed enhanced glazing, including the specific 
products and their acoustic performance, for those plots identified as requiring 
this within the submitted Noise Assessment (Tetra Tech, 784-B023363, January 
2022), have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority (LPA). Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA, the submission 
must demonstrate that the products meet the minimum acoustic specification 
shown in Section 6 of the submitted Noise Assessment and provide for 
sufficient ventilation for the dwellings. The measures shall then be installed in 
accordance with the approved details prior to first occupation of these plots.  

 
Reason: In order to provide a satisfactory internal environment in the interests 
of amenity.  

56



 
 
 
 
24. Prior to first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved, the existing access 

from the site to Allington Lane shall be permanently stopped up and effectively 
closed with the footway provided or verge reinstated, in accordance with details 
which have first been submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

 
25. No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until the provisions shown on 

the approved plans for the storage of bicycles and refuse bins for that unit shall 
have been made available. These shall then be retained and reserved for that 
purpose at all times.  

 
Reason: To ensure suitable provision for bicycles and refuse storage. 

 

26. No private parking management scheme shall be implemented on the site and 
no additional or altered vehicle parking areas shall be provided on any part of 
the development without the prior written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and amenity.  

 
27. No vegetation clearance shall occur on site during the bird nesting season 

(between 1st March & 31st August) unless supervised by an appropriately 
qualified ecologist.  

 
Reason: To prevent harm to breeding birds.  

 
28. No construction or demolition related activities or deliveries to the site shall take 

place during the construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800 
Mondays to Fridays or 0800 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or 
Bank Holidays.  

 
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings. 

 

29. No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source shall 
take place during the demolition, construction and fitting out process.  

 

Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties. 
 
Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive approach to the handling of 
development proposals so as to achieve, whenever possible, a positive outcome and 
to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a timely manner. 
 
Note to Applicant: Southern Water requires a formal application for any new 
connection to the public foul and surface water sewer to be made by the applicant or 
developer. To make an application visit: 
https://developerservices.southernwater.co.uk/ and refer to their New Connections 
Services Charging Arrangements documents which are available on their website via 

57

https://developerservices.southernwater.co.uk/


 
 
 
the following link: https://southernwater.co.uk/developing-building/connection-
charging-arrangements  
 
Note to Applicant: Given the nature of the proposed development it is possible that 
a crane may be required during its construction. The applicant’s attention is therefore 
drawn to the requirement within the British Standard ‘Code of practice for safe use of 
cranes’ for crane operators to consult the aerodrome before erecting a crane in close 
proximity to an aerodrome. This is explained further in Advice Note 4, ‘Cranes and 
Other Construction Issues’, available at http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-2016.pdf 
 
 

 
 
Report 
 
Introduction 
 
1. This application has been referred to Committee because it is a major 

development proposal that is deemed to be controversial.  
 

The site and its surroundings 
 
2. The application site extends to an area of approximately 1.28 hectares in size 

and lies to the eastern side of Allington Lane in Fair Oak. The site, which was 
formerly used as a horticultural nursery, is relatively long and narrow in terms of 
its shaping. It is broadly formed of two parts with the land within the north-
western portion of the site containing a range of buildings of varying sizes 
including a single storey dwelling and a series of sheds and structures 
associated with the former use of the land, and the remainder to the south-east 
being relatively open.  
 

3. The site is subject to a Tree Preservation Order, with there being scattered trees 
and vegetation in varying locations across its extent. The most significant 
arboricultural features are on or adjacent to the site’s perimeters, with this most 
notably being in the south-eastern part of the site. In terms of its topography, the 
site experiences a gradual fall of about 3 metres across its full extent moving 
from the north-western to the south-eastern boundary.  
 

4. The site is bounded by Allington Lane to the north-west with a mature tree line 
being present to the south-east, beyond which lies Quobleigh Woods and Pond 
which is a designated Site of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC). To 
the north-east and south-west are recent housing developments, the former of 
which is still partially under construction by Vistry, the applicant for the current 
submission.   

 
5. The site lies within designated countryside within the adopted Eastleigh 

Borough Local Plan 2001-2011 but, as part of a wider parcel of land, was 
identified as a reserve housing site under the provisions of Policy 83.H. This 
land is now proposed to be allocated for residential development within the 

58

https://southernwater.co.uk/developing-building/connection-charging-arrangements
https://southernwater.co.uk/developing-building/connection-charging-arrangements
http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-2016.pdf
http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-2016.pdf


 
 
 

emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 under policy FO3, with this 
policy setting out a number of requirements that development proposals should 
adhere to.  
 

Description of application 
 
6. The application seeks full planning permission for the construction of 35no. 

dwellings, with access provided from Allington Lane, and associated parking, 
hard and soft landscaping, and infrastructure including sustainable drainage 
provisions. The access to the site, which would replace the existing access 
point serving ‘Treetops’, would be in the form of a bellmouth arrangement and 
incorporates dropped kerbs and tactile paving. The access leads to a main 
spine road running east to west through the site, with a centralised ‘S-bend’. A 
turning head is provided at the eastern end of the site. 
 

7. The proposed dwellings either front onto or are situated side onto the main 
spine road with differing orientations used to add variety across the site. The 
35no. dwellings comprise of 3no. 1-bedroom flats, 3no. 2-bedroom flats, 1no. 2-
bedroom flat-over-garage, 3no. 2-bedroom houses, 18no. 3-bedroom houses, 
and 7no. 4-bedroom houses. 35% of the dwellings (12no. units) are proposed to 
be affordable housing. In terms of their scale, all buildings are proposed to be 
two-storeys in height, apart from the single flatted block which will be two-and-a-
half storeys, with a mixture of hipped and gable roof forms being used. 
Materials are proposed to be red brick to the exterior elevations, with the use of 
hanging tiles on certain plots and a mix of grey and red tiles utilised for roof 
coverings.  
 

8. Parking is provided through a mixture of on-plot driveways and single garages, 
as well as communal parking courts, with parking being provided on a fully 
allocated basis. A sustainable drainage system (SuDS) is proposed to be used 
to manage surface water from the site, with this system including a basin 
feature which is to be located within a green landscaped area at the south-
eastern extent of the site and which provides a buffer to the mature trees along 
this boundary. Further landscaping and tree planting is proposed elsewhere 
across the site with the application being accompanied by a detailed landscape 
strategy.  

 
9. The application is accompanied by the following reports and technical 

assessments which have been updated where necessary throughout the course 
of the application: 

 

 Air Quality Assessment  

 Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement 

 Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation 

 Biodiversity Net Gain Calculations 

 Communication Strategy 

 Design and Access Statement 

 Ecological Assessments 

59



 
 
 

 Flood Risk Assessment (Including Foul Drainage Assessment and 
Drainage Strategy) 

 Geo-Environmental Assessment (Phase I-II) 

 Landscape Enhancement Management Plan 

 Noise Assessment  

 Planning Statement 

 Schedule of Accommodation  

 Sustainability Report 

 Transport Statement (Including Highways Plans) 

 Tree Survey 

 Tree Protection Plan 
 
Relevant planning history 
 
10. The planning history for the site itself is relatively limited with this incorporating 

the consent for the construction of the existing bungalow and the erection of 
associated greenhouses (Z/16347/000 – Granted in 1975), the subsequent 
addition of a utility room extension to the bungalow (Z/16347/002 – Granted in 
1979), and the erection of a replacement greenhouse (Z/16347/003 – Granted 
in 1981). 
 

11. The recent planning history for the immediately adjacent sites to the north and 
south is of particular relevance to the current application. The land to the south 
(now known as Archers Wood) was granted outline approval for up to 50no. 
dwellinghouses in October 2018 (O/17/81864) with a subsequent reserved 
matters application for 49no. units being granted in January 2019 
(RM/18/84195).  
 

12. The land to the western portion of the site’s north-eastern boundary (closest to 
Allington Lane) now known as Limewood Grange was granted outline planning 
consent for up to 72no. dwellings on appeal in May 2014 (O/13/72471) with a 
subsequent reserved matters approval (also for 72no. units) being granted in 
May 2018 (RM/17/81871). The land to the immediate east of this which also 
borders the application site to its north-eastern side was granted full planning 
permission for the construction of 35no. dwellings in July 2020 (F/19/85028).  

 
Representations received 
 
13. A total of 18 letters of objection have been received in relation to the 

application, with these including 7 for the scheme as originally proposed and 11 
for the scheme as subsequently amended following a period of reconsultation. 
The following matters were raised as concerns or objections to the proposals 
(summarised): 

 

 Impacts on ecology and wildlife on the site and within the land to the east 
of it.   

 Further loss of green space within the area which will add to existing 
flooding issues and drainage problems.  

60



 
 
 

 Impacts of additional vehicles on the highway network and increased 
emissions.  

 Safety and congestion related concerns in respect of the addition of a 
further direct access on to Allington Lane.  

 Adequacy of parking, loading and turning space.  

 Further pressures on existing infrastructure (for example schools and GP 
surgeries) which is already struggling.  

 The site is too small for 35 dwellings (overdevelopment).  

 The proposals are inconsistent with the Council’s own development at One 
Horton Heath and the stated ethos regarding ecology and natural beauty.  

 The site will not be a good addition next to the well-spaced Bargate site 
next door.  

 Loss of hedging and trees along the boundary with Clementine Way which 
provide natural habitat for wildlife and privacy for existing residents as well 
as future residents on the Treetops site.  

 Loss of trees and landscaping and impacts on the trees at the rear of the 
site from the proximity of the development.  

 Insufficient green space within the development in favour of larger property 
floor plans and car parks.  

 Assurances sought in relation to contractor parking and access for 
construction vehicles and concerns that these will use neighbouring 
residential developments. 

 Noise and dust impacts from construction for neighbouring residents.  

 Impacts on local businesses from the disruption associated with 
construction works.  

 A pedestrian link should be provided between the site’s even though they 
won’t be joined for vehicular access.  

 Clementine Way is a private road so there should be no access between 
the two sites.  

 May Close should be used for access as it is the same developer and is 
already ready to be joined on to.  

 The car parks within the development are not in-keeping with the local 
area and will be an eye sore for the new and neighbouring residents.  

 Impacts on neighbouring amenity, including loss of light and 
overshadowing, overlooking/loss of privacy, and noise and disturbance.  

 The block of flats will be a dominating feature and are unnecessary.  
 
Consultation responses  
 
14. Fair Oak Parish Council 

 
Initial comments: 
 
The Parish Council requests that further review be undertaken on the access 
and egress of the development to limit the traffic on Allington Lane which is 
currently at capacity as a busy and dangerous highway for cyclist and 
pedestrians.  
 
Comments on amended plans: 

61



 
 
 

 
Members raised concerns regarding safe access and egress from the 
development onto Allington Lane which is currently at capacity and remains a 
busy and dangerous highway for cyclists and pedestrians. They requested that 
parking restrictions be put into place along the entrance road, ensuring 
sufficient access for emergency vehicles. This would in turn highlight to need for 
additional visitor parking spaces. Concerns were also raised regarding 
adequate turning provision for emergency and refuse vehicles. Members asked 
for this application to be referred to the LAC for further consideration. 
 
15. Ecology 

 
Ecology General 
 
The reviewed BNG calculations indicate that the site (as proposed in the 
amended design) will deliver a net gain of habitat units and hedgerow units. An 
uplift of 10% is recommended in the Environment Act, although this does not 
become mandatory until 2023. Therefore, although the biodiversity net gain is 
minimal it is policy compliant at this point. The Metric is also only one tool to 
assess ecological impact and judgement can be used, particularly as other 
species-based enhancements are not part of those calculations but will still 
deliver benefits.  
 
It was anticipated that there may be a significant population of reptiles on the 
site but the survey work indicates that only a low population is present (no other 
reptile species were found). Given the low numbers they can be accommodated 
on site via a mitigation strategy and retained/enhanced habitat at the eastern 
end of the site.  
 
The proposed works will require licensing for bats due to the presence of roosts 
in building one and great-crested newts due to the potential loss of habitat and 
risk to individual newts from the local population (although none have been 
recorded on site at present). Details of outline mitigation for these species is 
provided in the Ecological Appraisal and this will need to delivered as part of a 
licence application to Natural England. The survey work and proposed 
mitigation (and enhancements) is sufficient to safeguard these populations.  
 
The Landscape Management Enhancement Plan outlines habitat management 
and details potential enhancements for ecology. Provided that the plan is 
updated to include a table which brings together all the proposed 
enhancements and the ongoing maintenance and puts timings and 
responsibilities to these proposals, this is satisfactory. It is essential it is 
implemented in order to avoid a net loss of biodiversity overall.  
 
Details of the exact locations of swift bricks and bat bricks plus confirmation of 
the inclusion of green roofs can also be provided by condition, which are 
essential parts of the enhancement strategy.  
 
Drainage 
 

62



 
 
 

The updated FRA and Drainage Strategy indicates that there will be three 
stages of non-mechanical filtering on the site in line policy DM6 in the emerging 
local plan. There will also be the provision of swales, ponds and some green 
roofs included within the scheme. Provided this strategy is implemented as 
shown I am satisfied there will be no negative impacts arising from the scheme 
in terms of drainage. The proposed SUDs feature located in the southeast 
corner is very close to the root protection area of a large oak tree (T37) that was 
identified as having bat roosting potential. The status of bats in the tree has not 
been established as it has always been intended to retain the tree. The tree 
officer is content that the feature can be delivered as shown without damaging 
the tree providing the correct working methodologies are implemented. It is 
important that if any deviation from that approved design occurs, it is discussed 
and approved before it is undertaken to safeguard the tree and its ecological 
interest.  
 
Recommendation 
 
The proposals as presented are not contrary to emerging Local Plan Policy 
DM11 (Nature Conservation) and on this basis I raise no objection on grounds 
of ecology providing the following are conditioned as part of any granted 
permission: 

 
• Strict adherence to the mitigation outlined in the Preliminary Ecological 

Appraisal (PEA) including obtaining licenses for bats and GCNs 
• Implementation of the updated LMP (to include summary table) 
• A condition which requires the submission of details of compliance 

regarding the installation of the swift bricks, bat bricks and green roofs as 
shown on the soft landscaping plan 

 
16. Tree Officer 
 

The portion of RPA of T38 within the site was previously predominately 
proposed as residential garden, and even some dwelling footprint encroached 
upon its RPA. In the revised layout, it is given more space and now only has 
minor encroachments into its RPA. In a similar manner, T37 has had the 
residential garden removed from within its RPA. The crown of T37 is still 
relatively close to plot 129 (previously labelled as plot 123), but the tree is now 
located on the corner of the dwelling rather than across the plot’s entire gable 
end. The plots in the far southeast have been marginally pulled back and this 
has given a little bit more space to the cedars to the southeast. 
 
Due to the revised layout, a further 7 individual trees or groups are proposed for 
removal. Having reviewed these losses, we are of the opinion that their loss, 
whilst regrettable, is not significant when compared to the benefits to the more 
significant trees on site. All of the additional 7 are C category small specimens.  
 
It is noted that a pumping station is now located within the RPAs of some of the 
cedars. We also note that it has been designed to allow for deep excavations 
outside of the RPAs only. This is acceptable in principle, but we are concerned 
that construction activities and access will be more impactful than the 

63



 
 
 

theoretical proposal. We would suggest a strongly worded condition regarding 
the final design of this pumping station, and to include that all excavation must 
be outside of the RPAs and must be carried out under arboricultural 
supervision.  
 
Ultimately, we feel that the proposal now is acceptable from an arboricultural 
perspective. A condition should be imposed requiring adherence to the 
submitted arboricultural report and to require that the tree protection measures 
are installed in accordance with the specified details and maintained for the 
duration of the development works.  

 
17. Urban Design Officer  
 

Some concerns raised in respect of the highways, street design and parking 
layouts prioritising vehicles over pedestrians, hard landscaped areas detracting 
from the scheme, as well as in relation to the overall balance between built 
form, parking and landscaping which suggests overdevelopment of the site.  
 
No objection is raised in relation to the height, form, scale and mass of buildings 
or their external appearance and materials, with recommendations made for 
additional fenestration to certain plots to improve overlooking of car parking 
courts and the street. Parking courts should be bound by brick walls, not fences, 
in accordance with the Quality Places SPD. Recommendations are made in 
relation to sustainability measures to be incorporated into the scheme.  

 
18. Landscape Officer 
 

The pumping station at the end of the access road will be exposed in arrivals 
views, could this be re-jigged to allow hedge planting to soften this view. Any 
fencing surrounding it should be dark grey or brown and not green. There are a 
number of locations where trees are planted in restricted beds and ideally 
specialist tree cells should be used to ensure that they establish. The proposed 
SuDS basin will require careful construction to avoid adverse impacts on 
retained trees.  
 
Robust native hedgerow planting should be included along the site frontage and 
a brick wall included along the rear side garden boundary to plot 123. A clear 
note that hedgehog gaps will be provided in gravel boards of fencing for each 
plot should be added to create hedgehog highways. A range of 
recommendations for changes to species to be planted are put forward, along 
with other requested updates to the landscape plans.  

 
19. Natural England 
 

Further information is required to determine the impacts of the development on 
designated sites, including the Solent and Southampton Water SPA and 
Ramsar and Solent Maritime SAC, in addition to the New Forest SPA, SAC and 
Ramsar sites. Natural England requires further information in order to determine 
the significance of these impacts and the scope for mitigation. The following 
information is required: a nutrients budget with agreed mitigation for any 

64



 
 
 

additional nutrients arising from this proposed development; an assessment of 
New Forest recreational impacts with details of suitable mitigation; a 
Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Plan (BMEP); and a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP). 

 
20. Environmental Health 
 

Contaminated Land 
 
No objection subject to conditions to require further investigation works, soil 
sampling, gas monitoring, and an asbestos survey, as well as to require the 
submission of a remediation strategy for approval by the LPA along with 
subsequent verification of the remediation measures. A further condition is 
recommended in relation to the potential encountering of unsuspected 
contamination.  
 
Noise 

 
The assessment is carried out according to the relevant “Professional Practice 
Guidance on Planning and Noise for New Residential Development” (ProPG) 
and comprises Stage 1 and Stage 2. This refers to the limits on noise indoors 
and in gardens or other outdoor amenity use from BS8233 “Guidance on sound 
insulation and noise reduction for buildings” which are required by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
A noise prediction model and monitoring results in current conditions are within 
3 dB. For the future year 2030, this includes for the intensification of use of 
roads or growth due to the One Horton Heath development. Allington Lane for 
example, with reference to traffic engineering information will carry 10631 18-
hour AAWT.  
 
The Stage 1 assessment concludes the site is “Negligible Risk” to “Medium 
Risk”, the latter to occur in the night-time. Therefore, an Acoustic Design 
Statement presents mitigation which for this site includes for self-protection of 
gardens through layout of the development and sound insulation of dwellings 
with alternative means of ventilation where appropriate needed. Other potential 
noise controls between the road and dwellings and on dwelling facades are not 
discussed. 
 
Having seen the Design and Access Statement, we observe the development, 
including the frontage looking onto Allington Lane is concluded upon improved 
landscape areas for tree planting. Dwellings set back from road traffic noise and 
gardens face inwards. The Stage 2 assessment calculates sound insulation 
performance and discusses alternative means of ventilation. We are unsure 
whether this is includes for uncertainty such as 3 dB identified in the 
comparison of noise measurement and prediction results. 
 
Air Quality 
 

65



 
 
 

Air quality dispersion modelling is informed by the future year with cumulative 
development including One Horton Heath. Change due to the application 
development is “Negligible” and not exceeding Air Quality Objectives for 
nitrogen dioxide and fine particulate matter. The model was calibrated on 
nitrogen dioxide within ten per cent uncertainty after adjustment. 

 
21. Hampshire County Council Highways 
 

No objection, subject to conditions and developer contributions.  
 
Access: The access into the site from Allington Lane has been re-positioned to 
a central point between the adjacent junctions of Clementine Way and May 
Close, maximising the available visibility splays from all junctions without the 
shadowing issues that were previously outlined. Visibility splays are therefore 
now to an acceptable standard. Onwards, additional vehicle tracking has been 
submitted demonstrating how the site access can be utilised by emergency and 
refuse vehicles. A S278 Agreement will be needed in relation to the new access 
and the existing ‘Treetops’ access will also need to be closed off with kerbs re-
instated, and this should be covered by condition.  
 
Internal layout: Visitor parking bays should have appropriate step out strips over 
the grassed areas in order to avoid users stepping out onto landscaped area. A 
street lighting plan will be required. It is noted that the internal road has been 
redesigned to enable the reduction of straight sections. This is welcomed as it is 
anticipated that it will result in lower vehicle speeds as desired. It is unfortunate 
that for various reasons, a vehicle link through to Clementine Way, as an 
alternative to the new site access junction, is not achievable, particularly given 
the layout of both sites lends itself to this. However, it is noted that a pedestrian 
link has now been provided, located via the parking court opposite plots 137-
142. Whilst unfortunate that it couldn’t be a continuation and joining of proposed 
footway links, the route nevertheless serves a useful purpose.  
 
Trip generation and developer contributions: As demonstrated in the updated 
Transport Assessment (TA), utilising the TRICS database of vehicle movement 
surveys, it is anticipated that this development will increase traffic flows by 
approximately 17 additional vehicle movements in the AM peak period (5 in /12 
out) and 19 in the PM peak period (13 in/6 out). This is unchanged from the 
previous TA, as would be expected given the quantum of development is 
unchanged by the amended site layout (35 dwellings).  
 
Whilst when considered accumulatively with other development in the local 
area, it will of course contribute to the requirement of updated highway 
infrastructure and mitigation, as an individual site it is unlikely to have a 
noticeable impact on the local highway network when considered against 
existing flows, certainly not a severe impact. However, given the accumulative 
impacts, there is a requirement for transport developer contributions, which will 
be utilised to pay for necessary highway upgrades and improvements in the 
local area. A contribution for a Traffic Regulation Order is also requested for 
parking restrictions on the access junction, along the frontage of Allington Lane, 
and within turning head areas should the site be adopted. 

66



 
 
 

 
Parking and servicing: The quantum of parking has not been assessed, as this 
is a function for EBC as Local Parking Authority. However, the parking layout 
has been reviewed and appears acceptable with adequately sized spaces, step 
out strips (bar for visitor spaces) and adequate aisle widths in which to turn. 
Tracking diagrams have been provided, demonstrating how servicing can be 
undertaken on site, and forward gear access and egress is achievable due to 
the turning head provision. Onwards, bin collection points are provided, which 
appear acceptable, though it is recommended that the Case Officer liaises with 
the EBC Direct Services team in this regard if they have not done so already. 
 
Conditions: Conditions are recommended to require the submission of a 
construction method statement, as well as to require the access to be 
constructed in accordance with the approved plans and the existing access to 
be closed off and reinstated in accordance with details to be approved by the 
local planning authority.  

 
22. HCC Flood and Water Management 
 

Initial comments 
 
The site falls in 2 directions with the north falling towards Allington Lane and the 
south towards the existing watercourse. Therefore, the drainage strategy does 
not directly mimic the existing situation as all flows are being directed to the 
southern watercourse.  
 
The site is small with flows being capped at 2.7l/s. If the site were to be split into 
the relevant catchments, this would leave flows of 1.35l/s in either direction 
which is considered too small a flow rate and would lead to an increased risk of 
blockage. As such, it is considered acceptable to divert flows to the south 
particularly as flows are limited to Qbar with betterment occurring at higher 
return periods.  
 
Flooding is known to occur on Allington Lane to the south west of the site which 
has not been referenced in the flood risk assessment. Although this is 
downstream of the site, given that the site is discharging at greenfield rates and 
that the flows would have merged at this point regardless of routing, it is 
considered that there will not be an adverse impact in terms of flood risk and 
there would be a betterment in higher return periods. 
 
Comments on amended scheme: 
 
Detailed drawings and calculations have been provided to demonstrate that 
there is sufficient drainage provision and as such, no objections are raised to 
the application.  

 
23. Hampshire County Council Children’s Services 
 

Comments awaited.  
 

67



 
 
 
24. Hampshire County Council Archaeology  
 

Comments awaited.  
 
25. NHS West Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

Whilst we recognise that not all of the occupants of the proposed dwellings will 
be new to the area, we make the Health Care planning assumption that this 
application will generate 105 additional residents at a ratio of 3 persons per 
dwelling. The resulting growth in the local population will inevitably seek 
registration with a local GP surgery and place additional pressure on existing 
NHS services; NHS services in primary, community and secondary care 
settings.  
 
Our estimate of the level of additional demand that will be placed on NHS 
primary care does not, in our view, warrant the commissioning of an additional 
GP surgery. The increased demand will be accommodated by the existing GP 
surgeries open to new registration requests from people living in the area of the 
proposed development. However, additional capacity within the premises will be 
required. The CCG considers that the applicant should be required to make an 
appropriate financial contribution to the capital investment that the NHS will 
make in this regard. 

 
26. Southampton Airport 
 

The proposed development has been examined from an aerodrome 
safeguarding perspective and does not conflict with safeguarding criteria. 
Therefore, no objection is raised to this proposal. 
 
Given the nature of the proposed development it is possible that a crane may 
be required during its construction. The applicant’s attention is therefore drawn 
to the requirement within the British Standard ‘Code of practice for safe use of 
cranes’ for crane operators to consult the aerodrome before erecting a crane in 
close proximity to an aerodrome.   

 
27. Housing Officer 
 

This site would be a qualifying site for affordable housing and would need to 
provide 35%, which equates to 12 affordable homes based on 35 homes 
proposed overall. It is expected that the affordable units would be split 65/35% 
between rented units and low-cost home ownership (8 homes for rent and 4 for 
shared ownership) and it is noted that the mix of homes and tenures has been 
amended and the proposals now accord with the Council’s requirements.  
 
The previous accompanying information confirmed that all the affordable 
housing dwellings will meet Building Regulations Part M4(2) Accessible and 
adaptable homes and 2no. ground floor flats (1no. 1 bed and 1no. 2 bed) will be 
Part M4(3) adaptable homes. It is recommended that as the detail of the 
scheme evolves, the developer has a dialogue with a Registered Provider to 

68



 
 
 

ensure that the affordable units meet the required standards.  
 

28. Direct Services 
 

No objection.   
 
29. Southern Water 
 

There is a public trunk main in the vicinity of the site with requisite stand-off 
distances in respect of development works, tree planting and drainage features. 
It is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the 
development site. Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction 
works, an investigation of the sewer will be required to ascertain its ownership 
before any further works commence on site. 
 
The impact of any works within the highway/access road on public apparatus 
shall be assessed and approved, in consultation with Southern Water, under a 
NRSWA enquiry in order to protect public apparatus. Investigations indicate that 
Southern Water can facilitate foul sewerage run off disposal to service the 
proposed development. Southern Water requires a formal application for a 
connection to the public sewer to be made by the applicant or developer.  
 
The supporting documents make reference to drainage using Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SuDS). Where a SuDS scheme is to be implemented, the 
drainage details submitted to the Local Planning Authority should: specify the 
responsibilities of each party for the implementation of the SuDS scheme; 
specify a timetable for implementation; and provide a management and 
maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development. This should include the 
arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory undertaker and 
any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its 
lifetime. A condition is recommended in relation to the means of foul sewerage 
and surface water disposal to serve the development.  

 
Policy context: designation applicable to site 
 

 Within designated countryside (Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2001-2011) 

 Subject to proposed allocation for residential development (Policy FO3 of 
the Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036) 

 Subject to a Tree Preservation Order (TPO 552) 

 Within HRA (Habitats Regulations Assessment) Screening Area  
 
Local and National Planning Policies and Guidance  
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
30. At a national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the 

‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the 
determination of planning applications. The NPPF states that (as required by 
statute) applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance 

69



 
 
 

with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise 
and sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
 

Planning Practice Guidance  
 
31. Where material, the Planning Practice Guidance which supports the provisions 

and policies of the NPPF should be afforded weight in the consideration and 
determination of planning applications. 

 
Saved Policies of the Adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (EBLP 
2001-2011)  
 
32. The key saved policies of the adopted local plan relating to this application are: 
 

 1.CO (Protection of the Countryside), 18.CO (Landscape Character), 23.NC 
(Protection of SINCs), 25.NC and 26.NC (Biodiversity), 28.ES (Storage and 
Collection of Waste), 30.ES (Noise Sensitive Development), 31.ES (Noise 
Standards), 33.ES (Air Quality), 34.ES (Energy and Climate Change), 35.ES 
(Land Contamination), 36.ES (Lighting), 37.ES (Water Consumption), 45.ES 
(Surface Water Drainage), 59.BE (Promoting Good Design), 73.H (Creating 
Mixed Communities), 74.H (Affordable Housing), 100.T, 101.T, 102. T, 103.T 
and 104.T (Transport and New Development), 147.OS (Open Space Provision), 
165.TA (Public Art), 168.LB (Archaeology), 175.LB (Buildings of Local 
Importance), 190.IN (Infrastructure and Public Utilities), 191.IN (Developer 
Contributions).  

 
The Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 
 
33. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination in 

July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient housing was being 
provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  Whilst this has not been 
withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can therefore be considered 
to have extremely limited weight in the determination of this application. 

 
The Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 

 
34. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 was submitted to the Planning 

Inspectorate on 31st October 2018 and the examination hearings concluded in 
January 2020. The Council received the Inspector’s post-Hearing advice on 1 
April 2020, with modifications to the plan having been subsequently consulted 
upon and responded to. The Council is now awaiting the Inspector’s report, with 
a view to progressing the plan to adoption, anticipated in Summer 2022. Given 
the status of the Emerging Plan, it is considered that overall considerable 
weight can be attributed to it. 
 

35. Within the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036, the site is proposed to be 
allocated for residential development under the provisions of Policy FO3 (East 
of Allington Lane). This policy, which would see the site incorporated into a 
realigned urban edge, proposes the allocation of the land and that adjoining it to 
the north and south for approximately 119 dwellings subject to a range of 

70



 
 
 

criteria concerning the access provisions, ecology, drainage, landscaping, open 
space provision (either on site or through contributions towards off-site 
provision), the need for contributions towards highway improvements and for 
pedestrian and cycle link improvements. 
 

36. In addition to this allocation, the following policies are also of relevance to the 
proposals: S1 (Delivering Sustainable Development), S2 (Approach to New 
Development), S3 (Location of New Housing), S10 (Green infrastructure), DM1 
(General Criteria for New Development), DM2 (Environmentally Sustainable 
Development), DM3 (Adaption to Climate Change), DM6 (Sustainable Surface 
Water Management and Watercourse Management), DM8 (Pollution), DM11 
(Nature Conservation), DM12 (Heritage Assets), DM13 (General Development 
Criteria – Transport), DM14 (Parking), DM30 (Affordable Housing), DM32 
(Internal Space Standards for New Residential Development), DM35 (Provision 
of Recreation and Open Space Facilities within New Development), DM40 
(Funding Infrastructure). 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 

 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (2011) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Residential Parking Standards (2009) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Biodiversity (2009) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Environmentally Sustainable 
Development (2009, Updated 2015) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations (2008) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Affordable Housing (2009, Updated 
2016) 

 Draft Supplementary Planning Document: Trees and Development (2021) 
 
Other Relevant Documents 
 

 Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 

 
Assessment of proposal  
 
37. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a local planning 
authority determining an application to do so in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

38. As indicated above the Development Plan comprises of the Saved Policies of 
the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and the application must 
be assessed against those that are of relevance to the proposed development.  

 
The principle of development  
 
39. The application seeks full planning approval for the development of the site for 

35no. residential dwellings, together with parking, landscaping, infrastructure 
and access from Allington Lane. The site is located outside of the urban edge 

71



 
 
 

and within designated countryside within the Council’s adopted Local Plan (the 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2001-2011). As such, Saved Policy 1.CO is of 
relevance to the application. Large-scale developments such as that proposed 
are not supported by this policy and, accordingly, if permission were to be 
granted there would have to be other material considerations that provide 
support for the scheme in order to justify this decision.  
 

40. In this regard, the site was identified, along with the adjoining land, as a reserve 
housing site within the adopted Local Plan (policy 83.H) and is now proposed to 
be allocated for residential development within the Emerging Local Plan under 
the provisions of policy FO3 which would also see the site fall within a realigned 
urban edge. The land encompassed by this proposed allocation is identified for 
up to 119 dwellings, with consent having already been granted for 84 properties 
(see planning references RM/18/84195 and F/19/85028 in planning history 
section above). Given the advanced stage that the Emerging Plan has reached 
in the examination process, it is considered that considerable weight can be 
attributed to it, and thereby policy FO3, in decision making.  
 

41. It is also of note that the aforementioned planning approvals have or are in the 
process of being implemented and, as such, the site now lies between major 
residential housing schemes to both its north-eastern and south-western sides. 
This has resulted in a notable change in the context of the site and its proposed 
development for housing therefore could be now be seen as a more of a form of 
infill development, as opposed to a direct encroachment into open countryside.  

 
42. Taking account of all of these factors, the general principle of residential 

development on the application site is considered to be acceptable. Any 
planning approval is however subject to the specific proposal put forward being 
appropriate in terms of its layout, siting, scale and appearance, as well as in 
respect of its impacts in a range of regards including upon the character of its 
surroundings, upon residential amenity, trees, ecology and in relation to 
highway related considerations. These matters, along with those others of 
material relevance to the proposals, are considered in the sections below.  

 
Sustainable Development  
 

43. The National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or ‘Framework’) is a 
significant material consideration in the assessment and determination of 
planning applications. Section 2 of the NPPF states that the purpose of the 
planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development, which can be summarised as meeting the needs of the present 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.  

 
44. Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three 

over-arching objectives – economic, social and environmental (which are 
interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways as set out 
above) that should be delivered through the preparation and implementation of 
plans and the application of policies in the Framework. Planning policies and 
decisions should play an active role in guiding development towards sustainable 
solutions, but in doing so, should take local circumstances into account to 

72



 
 
 

reflect the character, needs and opportunities of each area. Each of the three 
dimensions of sustainable development is considered in turn in the sections 
below.  

 
45. The NPPF also states that development proposals which accord with the 

development plan should be approved without delay. Where the development 
plan is absent, silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date, planning permission 
should be granted unless: the application of policies in the Framework that 
protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for 
refusing the development proposed; or any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against 
the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 

 
Economic Sustainability  
 
46. Paragraph 8 of the NPPF sets out that the economic objective of sustainable 

development is to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by 
ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right places and 
at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; and by 
identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure.  
 

47. The proposals would provide for some economic benefits. These include 
employment opportunities that would be created during the construction phase 
of the development, which will in turn result in increased spending within the 
local economy, for example on materials, goods and other services. In addition, 
the future occupiers of the residential properties would be likely to support local 
services and facilities, and a New Homes Bonus would also be paid. Further, 
the proposals would result in financial contributions being secured to offset 
certain impacts of the development, and result in the enhancement of local 
infrastructure and facilities.  
 

48. Provided that they are appropriately secured, these elements are benefits of the 
development that would be considered in the planning balance and, overall, it is 
considered that the development would be economically sustainable.  

 
Social Sustainability  
 

49. Chapter 5 of the NPPF ‘Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes’ states that it is 
important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward where it 
is needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing requirements are 
addressed and that land with permission is developed without unnecessary 
delay. 

 
50. The Council is currently able to demonstrate in excess of a 5-year housing 

supply. Nonetheless the delivery of housing as part of the development would 
be a social benefit of the scheme with this providing for 35 dwellings, including 
28no. houses in a mix of detached, semi-detached and terraced houses of 
between 2, 3 and 4 bedrooms, as well as a total of 7no. apartments of between 
1 and 2 bedrooms. It is considered that the overall range of house types, which 
includes two storey houses and a two and a half storey flatted block, and their 

73



 
 
 

sizes are also appropriate and would assist in providing a mixed and balanced 
community. The proposals would also incorporate 35% affordable housing 
(12no. units) in accordance with the requirements of Saved Policy 74.H of the 
adopted Local Plan, with these dwellings being an appropriate mix of size and 
tenure as noted within the comments of the Council’s Housing Officer.  

 
51. In addition, financial contributions would also be sought towards local health 

and community facilities that would be of benefit for the residents of the 
development as well as the local community. Provided that they are 
appropriately secured, these elements are further benefits of the development 
that would be considered in the planning balance and, overall, it is considered 
that the development would be socially sustainable.  

 
Environmental Sustainability  
 
52. The size and location of the application site is such that it has the potential to 

impact on a number of environmental factors with these being discussed in 
detail below.  

 
Layout, design and impacts on the surrounding area 
 
53. Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan requires that development takes 

full and proper account of the context of the site including the character and 
appearance of the locality and that it is appropriate in a number of regards 
including its massing, scale, layout, design, siting and density. In terms of 
national policy, Paragraph 124 of the NPPF encourages the efficient use of land 
and the achieving of appropriate densities on development sites for housing, 
whilst at the same time respecting the character of the area, promoting 
regeneration and change, and securing well-designed, attractive and healthy 
places. Paragraph 130 goes on to state that planning decisions should ensure 
that developments: will function well and add to the overall quality of the area; 
are visually attractive as a result of good architecture; and are sympathetic to 
local character and history, including the surrounding built environment and 
landscape setting. 

 
54. The application site is presently located within designated countryside within the 

adopted local plan. It is however, as noted above, proposed to be allocated for 
residential development within the Emerging Local Plan and is bounded by 
recent housing developments to both its northern and southern sides, with the 
site proposed to be subsumed into a realigned urban edge. Therefore, whilst 
invariably the character of the site itself will change from its current form to one 
where built form and associated infrastructure predominates across much of its 
extent, it is not considered that the development of the site for residential 
purposes would have an unacceptable impact upon the immediate surroundings 
of the site or the wider countryside beyond this.  

 
55. With regards to the density of the development proposed, policy DM23 of the 

Emerging Local Plan proposes that residential development in urban areas 
should achieve a minimum density of 40 dwellings per hectare (dph), unless site 

74



 
 
 

constraints or local character justify a lower density. In this case, the scheme 
would provide for 35 units which equates to 27.3 dph. This is notably lower than 
that advocated by emerging policy DM23 but is considered reasonable in this 
case taking account of the site constraints and surrounding context and is not 
incomparable with the development schemes to the immediate north which 
were approximately 25.2 dph. The provision of 35 dwellings also aligns with the 
overall approximate number specified within the draft allocation for the site, with 
Policy FO3 of the emerging plan proposing 119 units and 84 having already 
been approved within the remaining parts of this allocation. Whilst the density of 
the development to the immediate south (Archers Wood) is acknowledged to be 
lower, with this being approximately 19dph, the extent of that scheme will define 
the realigned urban edge within the Emerging Local Plan and thereby it directly 
borders the boundary of designated countryside where, within such a context, a 
lower density than would normally be expected for a residential development 
was considered appropriate.  
 

56. In terms of the layout and design of the scheme, the development would be 
served by a single point of access from Allington Lane which leads to a main 
spine road that dissects the site running west to east and from which the 
proposed housing would be accessed. The alignment of this road has been 
altered during the course of the application process as part of a range of 
amendments to the scheme, with this now incorporating an ‘S-bend’ towards its 
central section. This serves both a highway safety purpose in terms of slowing 
vehicles down and also allows for a greater degree of variety to be provided in 
terms of the layout and the siting of the housing, with this now incorporating 
more varied orientations and alignments across the site as a whole. 

  
57. Residential properties are predominantly two-stories in height which aligns with 

the immediately adjacent recent housing schemes. The exception to this is the 
single block of flats located alongside the site’s south-western boundary. This 
block is however not considered to be excessive in scale with it having been 
designed such that its upper storey appears as ‘rooms in the roof’ as opposed 
to it being a full height three-storey building. As a result, its ridge height would 
not be significantly higher than that of the closest of the new houses to it (plot 
136) as demonstrated by the submitted street scene drawings, with its hipped 
roof form serving to further reduce its overall potential scale and massing and 
its L-shaped footprint and the use of projecting elements and varied materials, 
positively breaking up the expanse of its elevations. As such, it is not 
considered that the block would appear out of keeping with the rest of the 
development or its wider surroundings.  
 

58. In terms of the design and form of the housing within the development, a range 
of house types are proposed, with properties being a mixture of detached, semi-
detached, or short terraces. Both hipped and gable roof forms are used, with 
architectural features such as bay windows, canopy porches and chimneys 
being incorporated to provide visual interest across the site. Properties will be 
constructed using red brick, with tile hanging being used on the upper 
elevations and gable ends of certain plots to provide further variety. Roof 
coverings will be a mixture of grey and red tiles and, overall, the pallet of 

75



 
 
 

materials to be used within the development is considered to be appropriate.  
 

59. With regards to other elements of the layout, the site incorporates the use of 
parking courts to provide a proportion of the required parking provision for the 
dwellings which is considered to be an acceptable approach in this case. The 
parking courts are not excessive in size and will use contrasting surfacing in the 
form of block paving to delineate them from the road and visually break up the 
hard surfacing, with planting provision further assisting in this regard. The 
parking court to the north-western end of the site (serving plots 108-116) will 
also be screened from the street scene through the use of a flat-over-garage 
style property which provides for undercroft access, whilst the parking courts 
present towards to the south-eastern end of the site also serve additional 
functional purposes. That to the south allows for a greater degree of spacing to 
be provided from the proposed buildings to the significant mature Oak tree 
which lies along the boundary of the site, with that to the north (adjacent to plot 
123) allowing for a sense of openness to be provided to the footpath link to the 
adjacent development. The parking courts will also be subject to natural 
surveillance and amendments to the elevations of the adjacent properties have 
been made to increase the levels of fenestration where required to further assist 
in this regard. 

 
60. In terms of the site landscaping, the application is supported by a 

comprehensive landscaping scheme which includes details of planting, 
hardsurfacing and boundary treatments for the development, with this scheme 
having evolved during the course of the application process in response to 
feedback given by the Council’s Urban Design and Landscape Officers. The 
rear gardens of properties will largely be surrounded by close boarded timber 
fencing, with walls being present where plots directly border the public realm or 
parking court areas, in line with the requirements of the Council’s Quality Places 
SPD. An appropriate mixture and variety of hardsurfacing is proposed including 
asphalt and block paviours along sections of the main spine road, with paving of 
contrasting colour being used for parking courts, reinforced gravel for visitor 
parking bays along the main spine road, and Saxon paving used along private 
footpaths.  

 

61. In terms of soft landscaping, whilst the final comments of the Landscape Officer 
are awaited following the receipt of further amended plans, the majority of 
points that he had raised have been picked up within the updated landscape 
scheme. This includes the provision of more robust planting along the site 
frontage, additional tree planting and changes to planting species and densities 
where required, as well as details of the green roofs proposed to garages within 
the development. Whilst it is acknowledged that perhaps a greater extent of 
larger trees could have been included along the full length of the spine road as 
advocated by the Council’s Urban Designer, in this case the overall approach 
taken is considered to be acceptable, with the existing mature trees along the 
site’s perimeters which have been appropriately buffered and ingratiated into 
the scheme with communal green landscaped areas around them, serving to 
soften the overall context of the development, with this then being 
supplemented by the mixed planting that has been proposed across the wider 
site.  

76



 
 
 
 

62. Whilst the positioning of the sewage pumping station at the end of the main 
spine road is acknowledged to be not the most ideal in visual terms, it is 
understood that various options have been explored to relocate this but the 
constraints provided by the root protection areas of adjacent trees, the 
relationship with other drainage infrastructure, and the offset distance to the 
nearest housing specified by Southern Water as well as the need for direct 
access for maintenance of the pumping station, have restricted the potential to 
do this. Additional planting has however been introduced around the pumping 
station within the landscaping scheme to try to soften this where possible and 
the surrounding fencing has also been changed to a dark grey colouring as 
recommended by the Council’s Landscape Officer. The green backdrop 
provided by the existing mature trees along the site’s south-eastern perimeter 
will further assist in this regard and will help to reduce the potential visual 
prominence of the pumping station. Taking account of these factors, its siting is 
not considered unreasonable in this case.  

 
63. Finally, as noted at the outset of this report, the Kings School lies to the north-

east of the development site and Elgin Lodge and Lakesmere House, which 
form part of the school, are identified as buildings of local importance within the 
adopted Local Plan. The development is however considered to be afforded a 
sufficient degree of separation from these buildings such that it is not 
considered that the proposals would have a detrimental impact upon either the 
buildings themselves or their setting. There is therefore no conflict with the 
requirements of Saved Policy 175.LB of the adopted Local Plan in this regard.  
 

64. Taking account of all of the above factors, overall it is considered that the 
development is acceptable and that the proposals demonstrate that the site has 
the capacity to be developed for the number of units proposed within an 
appropriate layout and design and, to this effect, the application achieves the 
balance advocated within national planning policy of making efficient use of land 
and achieving appropriate densities, whilst at the same time respecting the 
character of the area, and securing well-designed, attractive places. The 
development is therefore considered to comply with Saved Policy 59.BE of the 
adopted Local Plan in these regards.  

 
Residential amenity  
 
65. Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan and Policy DM1 of the Emerging 

Local Plan require that development avoids unduly interfering, disturbing or 
conflicting with adjoining or nearby uses, including by way of overlooking and 
loss of light or outlook. Paragraph 130 of the NPPF, amongst other things, 
requires that planning decisions ensure that development provides a high 
standard of amenity for existing and future users. The Council’s adopted Quality 
Places SPD provides additional guidance in relation to amenity in support of 
Saved Policy 59.BE. 

 
66. There are two primary considerations in respect of residential amenity in this 

case, these being the impact of the development on that of the occupiers of 
existing neighbouring properties and the appropriateness of the level of amenity 

77



 
 
 

that would be afforded for the future occupiers of the proposed dwellings. In 
terms of the latter first of all and with regards to the size of the dwellings, the 
majority of properties would meet or exceed the nationally described space 
standards in terms of their internal floor area. Whilst a small number of units 
wouldn’t meet this standard, which comprises of six properties of the same 
house type, they would be within five percent of the requirement and as such, in 
this case, this is not considered to be unacceptable and properties overall would 
have a suitable level of floor space for residents to live comfortably in line with 
the requirements of the Council’s Quality Places SPD (Key Design Principle 
17). In addition, habitable rooms would be subject to good levels of light and 
outlook and properties would not experience undue overlooking. 
 

67. With regards to exterior space, the Council’s Quality Places SPD requires that 
houses have a private usable amenity area that is of a size equivalent to a 
minimum of 60% of the total floorspace of the dwelling to which it relates. 
Where gardens are orientated within 30 degrees of north, a minimum garden 
depth of 12m is also specified to compensate for shading from the house. All of 
the houses within the development would meet or exceed the relevant size 
requirement, with garden areas being suitably private and not being unduly 
dominated by other buildings or the existing mature trees which are present in 
certain areas of the site. In addition, the small number of units with gardens 
within 30 degrees of north (plots 122, 123, 127 and 128) would also meet the 
aforementioned 12m depth requirement.  

 
68. In terms of the relationship between the development and existing neighbouring 

dwellings, there are residential properties situated to the northern and southern 
sides of the site. Taking account of the siting of the proposed dwellings, their 
orientation, the positioning of windows, and the relative distances between 
buildings, it is not considered that the development would be unacceptably 
overbearing to their occupiers, or result in an undue loss of privacy, light or 
outlook.  

 
69. Where dwellings back onto the neighbouring sites (for example, in the case of 

plots 133 to 136) the 22m minimum separation distance between first floor 
facing windows specified in the Quality Places SPD would be exceeded, and 
where buildings are in closer proximity to boundaries, they are orientated side 
on to the site perimeter with the facing elevation being devoid of windows. A 
number are also buffered to the neighbouring sites or dwellings by landscaping 
or vegetation, with the exception to this being the proposed flatted block (plots 
137-142) and plot 115, a two-storey house. The former is however set 
immediately alongside the north eastern side elevation of No. 6 Clementine 
Way which reduces its potential impacts, and the latter is set a suitable distance 
from No. 4 Clementine Way which, when taken with its hipped roof design and 
the relative orientation of the new dwelling to the north-eastern side of the 
existing (where any overshadowing would be notably less), is considered to be 
an acceptable relationship.  

 
79. Taking account of all of the above factors, the application is considered to 

comply with the requirements of Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan 
and Policy DM1 of the Emerging Plan, as well as the provisions of and 

78



 
 
 

Paragraph 130 of the NPPF and the Council’s Quality Places SPD, in respect of 
the matter of residential amenity. 

 
Noise  
 
70. The planning policy requirements in respect of noise are set out within 

Paragraphs 174 and 185 of the National Planning Policy Framework, Saved 
Policy 30.ES of the adopted Local Plan and Policy DM8 of the Emerging Local 
Plan. These policies collectively require that the occupiers of new development 
are not put at unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable 
levels of noise pollution. The Planning Practice Guidance provides further 
guidance on how noise is relevant to planning and how its impacts should be 
assessed in determining planning applications.  
 

71. The above adopted and emerging local plan policies include daytime and night-
time standards for maximum ambient noise levels for dwellings that are subject 
to transport-related noise, with these levels being based on Table 4 of 
BS8233:2014 ‘Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings’. 
Where necessary, the Council requires a noise assessment to be provided as 
part of a planning application which should identify significant sources of noise, 
assesses the likely short- and long-term impacts of noise generated or 
exposure to noise, and proposes noise protection or mitigation measures where 
the relevant standards would be exceeded. Whilst not planning policy, the 
Professional Practice Guidance on Planning and Noise for new residential 
development (ProPG) provides acoustic practitioners with guidance on the 
undertaking of noise assessments and the management of noise within the 
planning system in England. 
 

72. The application is supported by a Noise Assessment which refers to the 
aforementioned policies and guidance, along with the Explanatory Note of the 
Noise Policy Statement for England (NPSE), the principles of which align with 
the aims of the NPPF. The Noise Assessment identified that the ambient noise 
climate for the site is characterised by road traffic noise from Allington Lane as 
well as distant road traffic noise from various minor nearby roads. The 
Assessment includes details of monitoring that was undertaken, as well as 
modelling to predict noise levels at a number of locations across the site, with 
this including an appraisal of noise levels within external amenity areas as well 
as internal noise levels both with windows open and closed. The determination 
of noise intrusion levels includes projected road traffic noise levels for the year 
2030 to represent a worst-case scenario and incorporate traffic from cumulative 
sites surrounding the proposed development, as well as traffic from the 
development itself.  
 

73. Based on the noise modelling carried out, the site falls within ‘Negligible’ to 
‘Low’ noise risk categories during the daytime and ‘Negligible’ to ‘Medium’ 
during the night-time period (in line with ProPG categorisations). The results of 
the assessment show that noise levels within private external amenity areas are 
not predicted to exceed the lower guideline value within Saved Policy 30.ES 
(and thereby BS8233:2014) across the development site during the daytime. 
Whilst the recommended internal levels are generally met across the site during 

79



 
 
 

daytime and night-time periods assuming a ‘windows-open’ scenario, there are 
certain facades that have been predicted to exceed the relevant criteria with 
windows open and closed. These are in the north-western part of the site 
(closest to Allington Lane).  
 

74. An acoustic design statement setting out mitigation in the form of an alternative 
glazing and ventilation strategy has therefore been provided, with the mitigation 
being designed to achieve the requisite daytime and night-time noise levels in 
habitable rooms. This strategy incorporates alternative forms of ventilation on 
sensitive facades of certain plots which will allow for noise criteria to be met with 
a closed-window scenario (with standard double glazing) whilst still meeting 
building regulation requirements pertaining to ventilation. For the plots directly 
fronting onto Allington Lane (108-111) and thereby closest to the primary source 
of noise, enhanced glazing with a higher noise reduction rating has been 
proposed in addition to alternative means of ventilation.  
 

75. The Council’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has reviewed the submitted 
information and no objection has been raised, with clarification having 
subsequently been provided by the applicant’s acoustic consultant in response 
to the EHO’s question concerning the matter of the 3dB uncertainty and sound 
insulation performance. Taking account of the above factors, the measures 
proposed are considered to be sufficient to mitigate the identified noise impacts 
for future residents and provide an acceptable internal environment within the 
proposed dwellings. A pre-occupation condition will be imposed to require that 
confirmation of the installation of the proposed mitigation measures has been 
carried out and that this meets the specified rating levels detailed in the acoustic 
report.  

 
76. Taking account of all of the above factors, the application is considered to 

comply with the requirements of Saved Policy 30.ES of the adopted Local Plan, 
Policy DM8 of the emerging Local Plan and Paragraphs 174 and 185 of the 
NPPF in respect of the matter of noise.  

 
Transport and highway matters 
 
77. Saved Policy 100.T of the adopted Local Plan requires that development is or 

could be well served by public transport, cycling and walking and it includes 
measures which minimise its impact on the existing highway network, whilst 
Saved Policy 102.T requires that development requiring new or improved 
access does not interfere with the safety, function and standard of service of the 
road network or have adverse environmental implications and is to the adopted 
standard of the highway authority. Saved Policy 59.BE (v.) requires that 
development has a satisfactory means of access and layout for vehicles, 
cyclists and pedestrians including appropriate links to surrounding footpaths, 
cycleways and public transport services, whilst Saved Policy 104.T requires that 
an appropriate level of car parking be provided in accordance with the Council’s 
adopted standards. These policy provisions are considered to be consistent 
with the requirements of the NPPF and in particular those of paragraphs 110 
and 111.  

 

80



 
 
 
78. The application is supported by a Transport Assessment which appraises the 

key transport matters associated with the development, including the site’s 
accessibility, the development layout and car and cycle parking arrangements, 
access and servicing arrangements, and the impacts of the proposals on the 
local road network. This assessment has been reviewed by the Highway 
Authority and supplemental information has subsequently been received in 
response to their comments during the application process.  

 

79. In terms of the location of the site first of all, whilst it is presently situated within 
designated countryside within the Council’s adopted Local Plan, it is part of a 
draft allocation for residential development as noted above and is bordered by 
housing (which also formed part of this allocation) to both the north and south. It 
lies relatively close to the built-up area boundary of Fair Oak, with Fair Oak 
Village Centre approximately 1km to the north and local amenities including a 
public house, bus stops, a community centre, and Stokewood Surgery within a 
600m walk, with connecting footway provision along the eastern side of 
Allington Lane which the development site will connect onto. The scheme also 
includes provision for secure bicycle storage for residents in order to encourage 
the use of this sustainable mode of travel.  

 
80. With regards to the impacts on the local highway network, the Transport 

Assessment (TA) includes a trip generation assessment which considers 
anticipated vehicle movements arising from the development and the 
subsequent impacts upon the local highway network. This utilises the TRICS 
(Trip Rate Information Computer System) database to establish a net vehicle 
trip generation level and demonstrates that the proposed residential 
development would generate 17 two-way vehicle trips during the AM peak hour 
and 19 during the PM peak hour, with 172 daily trips being generated overall. 
During the busiest peak periods, the predicted movements would equate to an 
additional vehicle every 3 minutes on the local road network.  
 

81. When considered against existing traffic flows, in highway terms the residual 
impacts of the development would not be considered to have a significant or 
detrimental impact on the local highway network. Accumulatively with other 
developments, however, there will be requirements for updated highway 
infrastructure and mitigation and, thereby contributions have been sought 
towards these by the highway authority, with a further contribution requested for 
necessary Traffic Regulation Orders such as parking restrictions in the vicinity 
of the access junction and along the Allington Lane frontage, as well as within 
turning heads should the internal roads be adopted.  
 

82. In terms of the access to the site, whilst the development to the south had been 
designed in such a manner as to allow for the potential for a connecting vehicle 
route to be provided from the site’s south-western boundary (from Clementine 
Way), this option has not been pursued as part of the current scheme and 
vehicular access is therefore proposed to be taken from Allington Lane to the 
site’s north-western boundary. Whilst this is regrettable to a degree, it is not a 
specific policy requirement and no objection has been raised to the 
arrangement proposed by the highway authority with the new access having 

81



 
 
 

been repositioned to a more central point between the adjacent junctions of 
Clementine Way and May Close in response to their initial comments. This now 
ensures that visibility splays are to an appropriate standard. The existing access 
which serves Treetops would be closed off as part of the development.  
 

83. The access itself is in the form of a bellmouth arrangement which measures 
5.5m in width and supported by 6m corner radii. Dropped kerbs and tactile 
paving are provided at the access to aid pedestrian and cycle movements. With 
regards to the matters raised by the Council’s Urban Designer in respect of the 
design of this access, an alternative arrangement was considered within the 
original transport assessment submitted. This alternative design would have 
given priority to pedestrians and cyclists though the provision of a raised table 
at the proposed access, with a tactile paving crossing provided but without 
dropped kerbs and the give way line for vehicles being set behind the 
footway/cycleway (which is what the Urban Design comments advocate). 
 

84. Following liaison with the highway authority, however, this alternative potential 
design has not been carried forward, with concerns being raised in relation to 
such an arrangement in this particular location. The highway authority advised 
that the reason for this is that there are three other junctions in close proximity 
to the proposed site access, none of which have this style of prioritisation and 
as such this has the potential to be confusing for users and thereby compromise 
highway safety. It was deemed preferable in this case therefore for a consistent 
approach to be taken to the design of the access, with no objection being raised 
to the traditional bellmouth arrangement proposed. This is therefore considered 
acceptable in this instance.  

 
85. With regards to parking, the Council has an adopted Supplementary Planning 

Document (Residential Parking Standards SPD) which sets out the requisite 
levels of car parking for residential uses. The number of spaces required is 
relative to the size of properties and also whether parking is provided on an 
allocated or unallocated basis. In this case, the layout plan shows fully allocated 
parking which is provided by a mixture of on-plot provision (driveways and 
garages) or within parking courts. Where allocated provision is used, the 
Council’s Parking Standards require 2 spaces for 1-, 2- or 3-bedroom 
properties, and 3 spaces for 4-bedroom dwellings.  
 

86. The required standards are met for the vast majority of properties, with the only 
exception to this being for the 1-bedroom flats where a single space per unit 
has been provided. Whilst these would therefore be below the usual standard, 
given the small number of units that this effects (3), it is not considered that this 
would be unacceptable in this particular case, nor that the modest resulting 
shortfall would result in the endangerment of highway safety. In addition to unit 
specific parking, the requirement within the Parking Standards SPD for 
dedicated visitor parking at a ratio of 0.2 spaces per dwelling (7 spaces overall) 
is also met, with the potential for additional informal visitor parking available 
within certain sections of the spine road which is of a sufficient width for this 
purpose.  
 

82



 
 
 
87. Finally, in terms of the internal layout for the site, the access point from Allington 

Lane leads onto a main spine road which runs west to east through the site and 
off which the residential properties will be accessed. As noted earlier in this 
report, the alignment of the road has been altered during the course of the 
application process to add in an ‘S-bend’ which both adds more visual interest 
to the development an also serves to slow vehicles down when moving through 
the site, a change which has been welcomed by the highway authority. A 
turning head is proposed at the south-eastern extent of the site to allow vehicles 
to turn within the development, and tracking drawings have been provided as 
part of the Transport Assessment which demonstrate that such movements, 
along with others within and though the site, can be carried out in a safe and 
appropriate manner for all vehicles including large refuse vehicles.  

 
88. Overall and taking account of the above matters, the proposals are considered 

to be acceptable in terms of their accessibility and highway related impacts and 
comply with Saved Policies 59.BE, 100.T, 102.T and 104.T in these regards.  

 
Contaminated land 

 
89. Saved Policy 35.ES of the adopted Local Plan requires that it be demonstrated 

that land that is known or suspected to be contaminated will be remediated to a 
suitable standard for the proposed end use. Paragraphs 174 and 183 of the 
NPPF stipulate that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the 
natural environment through remediating and mitigating contaminated land and 
that decisions should ensure that sites are suitable for their new use, taking 
account of ground conditions and former activities. Paragraph 184 goes on to 
state that where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, 
responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or 
landowner. 

 
90. The application is accompanied by a Phase I-II Geo-Environmental Site 

Assessment which considers the implications of any potential environmental 
risks and development constraints associated with the site in relation to the 
future use of the land and to off-site receptors and provides recommendations 
in these regards. The desk study element of the report identified a number of 
plausible pollutant linkages that warranted further investigation including from 
on-site Made Ground associated with the existing buildings, localised spills from 
on-site drums, the on-site historic nursery, off-site brickworks, and an off-site 
unspecified pit. A subsequent ground investigation was therefore undertaken 
and is detailed in the submitted documentation, with this having been reviewed 
and considered by the Council’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO). 

 

91. The EHO has advised that further gas monitoring will be required, along with 
further intrusive investigation within the areas of the site that were inaccessible 
during the initial investigation works and which lie beneath the buildings that are 
proposed to be demolished. In addition, an asbestos survey is recommended to 
be undertaken prior to the demolition of these buildings. The Council’s EHO has 
confirmed that this matter can be adequately addressed through planning 
conditions requiring the submission of a report of the findings of the requisite 
investigations, along with remediation proposals where required and the 

83



 
 
 

subsequent validation of these. Further conditions are recommended in relation 
to the potential encountering of unsuspected contamination during development 
works and how this shall be dealt with, as well as in relation to asbestos 
removal. These conditions will be imposed accordingly and with these, it is 
considered that the development complies with the above referenced local and 
national planning policies in respect of the matter of land contamination.  

 
Air quality  

 
92. Paragraph 174 of the NPPF requires that planning decisions contribute to 

enhancing the natural and local environment, by amongst other things, 
preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at 
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of 
air pollution. Saved Policy 33.ES states that where new development appears 
likely to have a significant impact on air quality in the locality, or future occupiers 
of the development may be subject to unacceptable air quality, the Council will 
require a suitable air quality assessment to be carried out prior to consideration 
of the application. 
 

93. The application is supported by an Air Quality Screening Assessment which 
considers the air quality impacts associated with the development. This includes 
detailed dispersion modelling of traffic pollutants as well as an assessment for 
2023 traffic emissions and a future year assessment for 2030 traffic emissions 
to assess the effects of the proposals. The impacts during the operational 
phase (i.e., the development once occupied) take into account exhaust 
emissions from additional road traffic generated due to the development and 
regard has been had to the potential longer-term impacts of the ‘One Horton 
Heath’ development on the proposed housing, which had been requested to be 
included by the Council’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO).  

 
94. The report concludes that the long-term assessment of the effects associated 

with the proposed development with respect to Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) is 
determined to be ‘negligible’ in both 2023 and 2030 scenarios. With respect to 
PM10 and PM2.5 (particulate matter of less than 10 micrometres and 2.5 
micrometres in diameter) exposure, the effect is determined to be ‘negligible’ at 
all identified existing sensitive receptor locations in both 2023 and 2030 
scenarios. The long-term (annual) assessment shows that there are no adverse 
effects associated with the ‘One Horton Heath’ development on the proposed 
housing. All proposed receptor locations are also expected to be exposed to air 
quality below the Air Quality Objectives for NO2, PM10 and PM2.5 in both 2023 
and 2030 scenarios. As such, the report concludes that no further mitigation is 
required to protect future occupants or mitigate the impacts of the development.  

 

95. The submitted information has been reviewed by the Council’s EHO and no 
objection has been raised based upon the assessment carried out, its findings 
or recommendations. The application is therefore considered to accord with the 
requirements of Saved Policy 33.ES of the adopted Local Plan and Paragraph 
174 of the NPPF in respect of the matter of air quality.  

 
Trees  

84



 
 
 
 
96. Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan 2001-2011 requires that 

development takes full and proper account of the context of the site and is 
appropriate in relation to natural features and trees worthy of retention. Trees in 
relation to design, demolition and construction – Recommendations (BS 
5837:2012) advises that a realistic assessment of the probable impact of any 
proposed development on trees should take into account the characteristics and 
condition of the trees concerned, with due allowance and space for their future 
growth and maintenance requirements. To maximise the probability of 
successful tree retention account should be taken during the design process of 
any shading of buildings and open space, any direct damage both below and 
above ground, future pressure to remove trees, and seasonal nuisance. 
 

97. The application is supported by an Arboricultural Impact Assessment and 
Method Statement which appraises and categorises the arboricultural features 
on and adjacent to the site and considers the potential impacts on trees and 
other vegetation that could be affected by the development. This document also 
includes tree protection measures for retained trees which incorporates barriers 
and/or ground protection, as well as methodology for the undertaking of 
development works where there is necessitated encroachment identified into 
the root protection areas (RPAs) of retained trees.  
 

98. The application site and all of the trees contained within it are subject to a Tree 
Preservation Order, with the most significant arboricultural features of the site 
being predominantly located to its south-eastern end, with these including two 
significant oaks (labelled as T37 and T38 within the submitted arboricultural 
report) with veteran qualities and features on the south-western boundary; a 
mixed group of trees on the north-eastern boundary, close to Rockford House; 
and a significant set of cedars (and other trees) along the south-eastern 
boundary, which forms a buffer to Quobleigh Woods which lies beyond them.  

 
99. Following initial reservations from the Council’s Tree Officer in relation to the 

potential impacts upon some of the aforementioned trees and notably T37 and 
T38 which had originally had residential gardens significantly encroaching into 
their RPAs, the site layout has been revised to give more space to these trees 
and they will now form part of communal areas, with T38 being set within a 
landscaped area at the end of the parking court serving plots 131-135 and T37 
lying adjacent to the SuDS infrastructure to the south-eastern corner of the site, 
with a better resulting relationship to the closest dwelling. The plots in the far 
south-east corner of the site have also been pulled back from the cedars along 
this boundary to reduce their dominance over these properties.  
 

100. In terms of tree loss, the submitted arboricultural impact assessment statement 
shows that to accommodate the development, a total of fifteen individual trees 
and seven tree groups are to be removed across varying parts of the site. In 
addition, three hedges incorporating bramble, beech and hawthorn are also to 
be removed. None of these features are category ‘A’ (trees of high quality) or ‘B’ 
(trees of moderate quality) trees, with the trees to be removed each being 
category ‘C’ (trees of low quality). In addition, the site layout and drainage 
provisions associated with the development result in some incursions into the 

85



 
 
 

RPAs of retained trees, however the arboricultural method statement sets out 
how any potential resulting impacts can be minimised through low impact 
construction techniques.  

 
101. The submitted information and the arboricultural related impacts of the 

development have been considered by the Council’s Tree Officer, who has 
raised no objection to the proposed tree removals, with these not being 
considered to be significant when compared to the benefits to the more 
significant trees on site which, as noted above, constitute the main arboricultural 
features and make the greatest contribution to the character and appearance of 
the local landscape and amenity.  

 
102. A condition will be imposed to require details of the final design and impacts of 

the sewage pumping station at the eastern end of the site as recommended by 
the Tree Officer, along with a further condition to require that the development 
be carried out in accordance with the submitted arboricultural documentation. 
With this and having regard to the Tree Officer raising no objection, the 
application complies with the requirements of Saved Policy 59.BE of the 
adopted Local Plan in respect of its arboricultural related impacts.  

 
Ecology and drainage  
 
103. Saved Policy 45.ES of the adopted Local Plan requires that development 

provides for adequate drainage infrastructure, whilst Saved Policy 25.NC states 
that development which will adversely affect a habitat or feature of importance 
for wild fauna and flora will not be permitted, unless it can be demonstrated to 
the satisfaction of the Council that: (i) the benefits of the development outweigh 
the adverse impacts (ii) the adverse impacts are unavoidable, and (iii) 
appropriate measures are taken which would mitigate or compensate for any 
adverse impact. This includes in relation to drainage and the potential for the 
pollution of designated sites as a result of inadequate surface water drainage 
provisions.  

 
104. These policies are considered to be consistent with Paragraphs 159 to 169 of 

the NPPF which, inter alia, require that development incorporates appropriate 
sustainable drainage systems and does not increase flood risk elsewhere and 
Paragraph 174 which requires that, when determining planning applications, 
local planning authorities minimise impacts upon and provide net gains for 
biodiversity, including wherever possible, through helping to improve local 
environmental conditions such as water quality.  

 
105. The site is located within Flood Zone 1, which is defined as having low 

probability of flooding and an area where residential development is considered 
acceptable in principle. The application is supported by a drainage strategy 
which sets out the proposed provisions for both foul and surface water drainage 
to serve the development. This proposes to discharge foul sewage to the 
existing foul sewer in the vicinity of the site and Southern Water have advised 
that their initial investigations indicate that this is able to be accommodated 
within the current sewer network. A separate application will need to be made to 

86



 
 
 

Southern Water to connect to the existing network and an informative will be 
added to the decision notice in this regard.  

 
106. For surface water drainage, the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) sets out a 

hierarchy of drainage options, with the general aim being to discharge surface 
water run off as high as possible up this hierarchy as reasonably practicable. 
The hierarchy, in order of priority, is to discharge surface water: into the ground 
(infiltration); to a surface water body (i.e. a watercourse); to a surface water 
sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; or to a combined sewer. The 
submitted drainage strategy sets out that ground investigations undertaken 
demonstrate that infiltration is not a feasible option for the site and, therefore, in 
line with the PPG guidance, surface water is proposed to be discharged into a 
watercourse, with this being the existing ditch which is present to the south of 
the site and drains into the adjacent ‘Quobleigh Pond’.  

 

107. The surface water strategy for the development incorporates a mixture of 
attenuation tanks, gullies and permeable sub-bases, with water being conveyed 
to a detention basin situated in the site’s south-eastern corner, from which water 
will then be discharged at a greenfield run-off rate and will outfall (via a hydro-
brake) to the ditch at the south of the site. Detailed drawings and calculations 
have been provided to demonstrate that the proposed drainage strategy will 
provide sufficient capacity to serve the development, with this including 
adequate onsite attenuation to accommodate the 1-in-30 and 1-in-100-year 
storm events (including a 40% allowance for climate change and 10% 
allowance for urban creep), while still limiting discharge to greenfield rates, 
thereby mitigating the potential for increased flood risk downstream of the 
development.  

 
108. With regards to water quality, the surface water drainage scheme will ensure 

that run-off will be filtered at least three times (four times for the area at the 
south-eastern end of the site (catchment 2 as defined in the drainage strategy)) 
utilising non-mechanical / natural filtration methods in line with the requirements 
of Policy DM6 of the Emerging Local Plan. These filtration methods include the 
use of permeable sub-bases, the detention basin which includes a permeable 
beam to create a treatment forebay, as well as the use of filter drains. These 
methods will ensure that surface water discharged from the site will not 
undermine the water quality in the receiving watercourse and thereby the 
European protected Solent complex that this ultimately drains into. No objection 
to the surface water drainage proposals has been raised by Hampshire County 
Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority or by the Council’s Ecologist.  

 
109. In respect of other ecological related considerations, the application is 

supported by an Ecological Assessment Report, which includes details of 
further Ecological Surveys which were subsequently carried out (in respect of 
bats and reptiles), as well as a Landscape Enhancement Management Plan for 
the site and a Biodiversity Net Gain Calculation for the development. The 
Ecological Assessment carried out concludes that the site is considered to be of 
local ecological value and identifies that the site supports three confirmed 
Common Pipistrelle day roosts, trees with potential for further roosting bats and 

87



 
 
 

habitat considered suitable for foraging and commuting bats, Dormice, reptiles, 
Great Crested Newts, breeding and nesting birds, Badgers and Hedgehogs. As 
a result, avoidance measures are outlined within the report to seek to ensure 
that these species and their associated habitats are adequately protected and, 
where impacts are unavoidable, mitigation and compensation is provided.  

 

110. The submitted information has been reviewed by the Council’s Ecologist who 
has raised no objection to the proposals with the survey work carried out and 
the proposed mitigation and enhancement measures being considered to be 
sufficient to safeguard the relevant protected species identified. The Biodiversity 
Net Gain calculation for the site indicates that the site will deliver a net gain of 
0.33 habitat units and 3.51 hedgerow units (this has been increased following 
the latest updates to the landscaping scheme) which meets the present policy 
requirements. It is also of note, as highlighted by the Council’s Ecologist, that 
the Metric used to calculate Biodiversity Net Gain is only one tool used to 
assess ecological impact and the development will deliver other species-based 
enhancements (such as swift bricks, bat tiles etc) that are not part of those 
calculations but will still deliver benefits for biodiversity.  

 

111. In terms of off-site impacts, Quobleigh Pond and Woods lies to the east of the 
site with this being designated as a Site of Importance for Nature Conservation 
(SINC). The SINC includes mature woods and a large pond and is designated 
on the grounds of it containing Ancient Semi-natural Woodlands and Wet 
Woodlands (SINC criteria 1A/1Cii). The proposed development scheme would 
not unduly encroach upon this designation and as noted above, the drainage 
provisions would ensure no deterioration of water quality or flows within 
Quobleigh Pond or the adjoining watercourse network. Mitigation measures for 
Great Crested Newts, which the Ecological Assessment identifies as being 
likely present within Quobleigh Pond with connectivity available to the site, are 
also proposed within the Assessment and the Landscape Enhancement 
Management Plan.  

 

112. Improvement works and the subsequent transferral to the Council of much of 
the woodland area within the SINC designation, as well as contributions 
towards it maintenance, were secured as part of the planning obligations for the 
adjacent development to the south (application number O/17/81864). The 
development however has the potential to increase recreational impacts on the 
woods through additional users of public footpaths, which are understood to 
currently be in disrepair. To offset this impact therefore the off-site open space 
contributions required as part of the application could go to a local recreational 
scheme to include Quobleigh Woods, in order to mitigate these impacts.  

 
113. It is considered that the application is acceptable in terms of its drainage and 

ecological related impacts and complies with the requirements of Saved 
Policies 25.NC and 45.NC of the adopted Local Plan and the provisions of 
paragraphs 159 to 169 and paragraph 174 of the NPPF.  

 
Nutrient neutrality 
 

88



 
 
 
114. The water environment within the Solent region is one of the most important for 

wildlife in the United Kingdom. It is internationally recognised and is protected 
under the Water Environment Regulations and the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). Natural England have advised that 
there are high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus input to this water environment 
with evidence that these nutrients are causing eutrophication at these 
designated sites. These nutrient inputs currently mostly come either from 
agricultural sources or from wastewater from existing housing and other 
development. The resulting dense mats of green algae and other effects on the 
marine ecology resulting from an excessive presence of nutrients are impacting 
on the Solent’s protected habitats and bird species. There is presently 
uncertainty as to whether new growth will further deteriorate designated sites 
and whilst this uncertainty remains, Natural England have advised that new 
housing developments across the Solent region have the potential to 
exacerbate these impacts and create a risk to the future conservation status of 
these sites.  

 
115. The Council, as the responsible body for Habitats Regulations Assessments 

under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations, must ensure as 
part of a planning application that a development will not have an adverse 
impact on any European protected sites or the features for which they are 
designated and the above-mentioned impacts are therefore required to be 
mitigated. One way in which to address this issue is for new development to 
achieve nutrient neutrality which is a means of ensuring that development does 
not add to existing nutrient burdens and provide certainty that the scheme is 
deliverable in line with the requirements of these Regulations.  

 
116. The Council has adopted a strategy which includes identifying areas of 

agricultural land and removing them from a nitrate intensive use, which provides 
mitigation through offsetting the impacts of a development. This will ensure no 
net increase in nitrates within the Solent complex and thereby allow a 
development to achieve nutrient neutrality. In order to do this, the Council 
calculates the level of nitrate mitigation this land provides (measured in kg) and 
makes ‘nitrate credits’ available to developers to buy, with the securing of the 
required funding being through the S106 process. The charge for these credits 
includes estimated costs of land purchase and ongoing maintenance. The 
applicant has proposed to utilise this scheme as a means of offsetting the 
impacts of the development. The requisite contributions will need to be secured 
via a legal agreement. A Habitats Regulations Assessment has been 
undertaken by the local planning authority in line with the requirements of the 
Habitats Regulations and in response to the initial comments of Natural 
England, with this setting out the potential effects on the European protected 
site and the mitigation measures proposed to address these. Natural England’s 
further comments are awaited in respect of this Assessment.  

 
Environmentally sustainable development and climate change 
 
117. The Council declared a Climate Change and Environmental Emergency in 2019 

and in doing so agreed, amongst other things, to: (a) put in place measures to 

89



 
 
 

ensure the Council’s own operations and functions achieve carbon neutrality by 
2025; (b) work with partners to aim for all projects and services delivered in the 
Borough to achieve carbon neutrality by 2030; (c) ensure that the Council’s 
procurement policy recognises carbon neutrality as one of its primary 
considerations; and (d) recognise the urgency of action to mitigate and adapt to 
climate change in every decision taken by the Council. This is underpinned by 
the Climate and Environment Emergency Strategy 2020–2030 and the 
supporting Climate and Environmental Emergency Action Plan – Update June 
2020 and demonstrates a strong commitment by the Council to achieve net 
zero.  
 

118. As noted earlier in this report, Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 and Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
set out the legal framework for how planning applications should be considered 
and these legislative provisions require a local planning authority determining 
an application to do so in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The Council’s declaration is not part of the 
adopted development plan and neither the NPPF nor the emerging local plan 
set net zero as a specific target. However, addressing the effects of climate 
change is a core part of these policy documents. As such the impacts of 
development upon the environment and in respect of climate change are 
material considerations and are, therefore, required to be considered alongside 
those others that are of relevance to the application.  
 

119. In terms of the specific planning requirements in this regard, the need to protect 
the environment is part of the Strategic Environmental Assessment for the 
Emerging Local Plan, as is an assessment of climate impacts. The NPPF aims 
for the need for housing to be met and policy S2 of the Emerging Local Plan 
sets a target for 14,580 dwellings to be provided by 2036. The NPPF, Saved 
Policies 34.ES and 37.ES of the adopted Local Plan, and Policies S1, DM2 and 
DM3 of the Emerging Local Plan, as well as the energy and water elements of 
the Council’s adopted Environmentally Sustainable Development SPD, 
collectively require development to be sustainable in that it should use natural 
resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to 
climate change, including moving to a low carbon future. In addition, the NPPF 
sets out, within its presumption in favour of sustainable development, that local 
plans should promote a sustainable pattern of development that seeks to, inter 
alia, mitigate climate change (including by making effective use of land in urban 
areas) and adapt to its effects.  
 

120. As set out within the section on the ‘principle of development’, the application 
site is proposed to be incorporated into the urban edge within the Emerging 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 and is directly bounded by recent 
major residential developments to both its northern and southern sides. The 
principle of residential development is therefore considered to be acceptable on 
the application site and the proposals will complement the neighbouring 
developments in respect of layout, form and design. At a density of 27.3 
dwellings per hectare and with properties having adequate internal floor space, 
garden sizes and parking provision, the proposals are considered to make 

90



 
 
 

efficient and effective use of land, having regard to the context of the site.  
 

121. In respect of other material considerations of relevance to the implications of 
climate change, the site lies within Flood Zone 1 where residential development 
is considered to be appropriate in principle and the proposals also include 
sustainable drainage provisions that will discharge surface water from the site at 
the greenfield run off rate, with the submitted information demonstrating that 
sufficient storage will be included to ensure no overflow of the drainage system 
will occur for storm events up to the 1 in 100-year event, plus 40% extra rainfall 
depth to allow for climate change, in the lifetime of the development. In addition, 
the proposals also include a comprehensive landscaping scheme with this 
incorporating the provision of green roofs on garages, as well as ecological 
protection and enhancement measures. The development is also required to 
achieve nutrient neutrality to limit its effect on the European protected Solent 
Complex, with the requisite contributions in this regard proposed to be secured 
via a legal agreement under the provisions of S106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act.  
 

122. Further, the development will be subject to the provisions of a Construction 
Environment Management Plan which covers measures to mitigate against and 
limit any pollution arising from the construction phase of the development 
process. There is also a condition which will be imposed in respect of reducing 
energy and water consumption for the properties within the development during 
the operational phase. In accordance with Policy DM2 (Environmentally 
sustainable development) of the Emerging Local Plan, this condition requires 
that the new dwellings achieve a 19% improvement in predicted carbon 
emissions compared with buildings regulations standards, and a maximum 
predicted internal mains water consumption of 105 litres/person/day (the 
standard building regulations requirement (requirement G2 and regulation 36) 
where this is not imposed is 125 litres/person/day). The application is supported 
by a Sustainability Report which outlines how this will be achieved and evidence 
will be required to be provided of compliance with these requirements before 
the properties could be occupied. In addition, electric car charging infrastructure 
will be provided for dwellings with on plot parking.  
 

123. When considering the impacts of climate change, the proposed development is 
expected to be resilient to its potential effects and to reduce/limit the impacts on 
climate emissions as a result of measures incorporated into the scheme. Taking 
account of these range of factors, the proposals are deemed to comply with the 
relevant national and local planning policy requirements and the development is 
not expected to be unduly affected by, or unduly impact upon, the potential 
effects of climate change.  
 

Planning obligations and affordable housing 
 
124. In accordance with the guidance contained within the National Planning Policy 

Framework, Saved Policies 25.NC, 74.H, 101.T, 147.OS, 165.TA and 191.IN of 
the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2001-2011, Policies DM1, DM13, 
DM30, DM35 and DM40 of the Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-
2036, the Council’s ‘Planning Obligations’ SPD, and the requirements of 

91



 
 
 

Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations, there is a 
requirement for planning obligations to ensure on and off-site provision for 
facilities and infrastructure made necessary by the development, and to mitigate 
against any increased need/pressure on existing facilities. This is in addition to 
the requisite on-site provision of affordable housing. 
 

125. Contributions / obligations towards the provision of the following infrastructure, 
community and environmental facilities, or mitigation measures have been 
identified as being required as part of the application: 

 

 35% on-site affordable housing (12no. units) 

 Transport infrastructure and a traffic regulation order (TRO) 

 Community infrastructure projects 

 Off-site public open space contributions  

 Local health infrastructure provision 

 Nitrogen deposition mitigation 

 Public art 

 Education contributions (subject to the comments of Hampshire County 
Council Children’s Services) 

 
126. The projects and measures identified for contribution expenditure would comply 

with the 3 tests set out in Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy 
2010, in that the monies would go towards projects which are directly related to 
the development and are fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
proposed development. The contributions would be index-linked to ensure that 
they rise in line with the costs of providing the identified projects/measures. The 
obligations sought are necessary to make the development acceptable in 
planning terms and to meet the needs generated by the new residents and the 
potential impact on existing services and facilities.  
 

127. The granting of planning permission will be subject to the applicant entering into 
a Section 106 Agreement to secure the provision of these contributions. 
 

Equalities implications 
 
128. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. 

Section 149 states that: 
 

(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to 
the need to: 
 
(a)  eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 

that is prohibited by or under this Act; 
(b)  advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and, 
(c)  foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it. 
 

92



 
 
 

When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the equality 
duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups.  

 
129. It is not considered that this application raises any equality implications. 
 
Other material considerations 
 
130. None. 
 

Conclusion 
 
131. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a 

local planning authority determining an application to do so in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this 
regard, the site lies within designated countryside within the adopted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan 2001-2011 where Saved Policies 1.CO (protection of the 
countryside) applies. Large scale residential developments such as that 
proposed are not supported by this policy and therefore, there would have to be 
material considerations which weigh sufficiently in favour of the proposals to 
justify a decision to grant planning permission.  

132. In this respect, the site is subject to a draft allocation for residential 
development within the Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 
(Policy FO3) and given the status of the Plan, it is considered that considerable 
weight can be attached to the policies contained within it. The proposal to 
allocate the site for development of the nature proposed as part of this 
application is therefore a significant material consideration which weighs in 
favour of the development proposals. Additionally, the recent approvals for 
residential development to the north and southern sides of the site have notably 
changed its setting and context, such that any resulting physical and visual 
impacts on the wider countryside would be notably more limited, with the 
density, layout and design of the scheme being both appropriate in itself as well 
as in relation to these adjacent housing sites.  

 
133. The development would also give rise to social benefits. This includes 

contributing to the meeting of the needs of the borough through the provision of 
35 dwellings, 12 (35%) of which would be affordable housing which is of an 
appropriate mix and tenure. In addition, there would be economic benefits 
resulting from the construction phase of the development, an increase in local 
population, payment of a New Homes Bonus, and financial contributions 
secured via S106 planning obligations. The proposals would also not result in 
undue harm to ecology, trees, residential amenity or highway safety, would be 
environmentally sustainable, and would not be adversely affected by 
contaminated land subject to appropriate conditions being imposed. Provision 
for adequate drainage for the development would also be made. 

 
134. Taking account of all of these material factors, it is considered that the 

development proposal would constitute sustainable development for which the 
National Planning Policy Framework establishes a presumption in favour and 
that there are material considerations that provide justification for a decision 

93



 
 
 

otherwise than in accordance with the development plan. Subject, therefore, to 
the outstanding consultee responses and matters as listed in the 
recommendation set out at the outset of this report being addressed, it is 
considered that planning permission should be granted subject to conditions.  

 

 
 
 

94



 
 
 

 

95



This page is intentionally left blank



BISHOPSTOKE, FAIR OAK & HORTON HEATH (BIFOHH) LOCAL 
AREA COMMITTEE (LAC) 

Wednesday 9 March 2022 

FINANCE MONITORING REPORT 

 Report of the Local Area Manager 

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that   
 
(1) £270,000 is allocated from developer contributions for the Lapstone Playing Fields 

development in Fair Oak. 

 

 

Summary 
 
This report contains a recommendation for expenditure from the Committee’s developer 
contributions. 

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence, 
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area. 
S.106 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

 

Strategic Implications  

2. The works outlined below contribute to the following strategic priorities: 

Local First: where possible taking decisions at a local level about things 
which affect people’s lives, and using contributions from local developments 
for local projects 

Healthy Community: to enable healthier lifestyles and wellbeing 

Green Borough: Excellent Environment for all: creating a sense of place 
through improved community facilities, developing green infrastructure 

 

97

Agenda Item 11



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Lapstone Playing Fields Development – Path link and Cricket 
Pitch Project, Fair Oak 

3. The requirement for additional cricket pitch provision originated from the 
Eastleigh Playing Pitch Strategy (2017), which identified the need for 
additional cricket pitch provision to meet demand from an additional 5 adult 
teams and 6 junior teams in the borough, within the local plan period up to 
2036.  

4. An additional cricket wicket in BIFOHH, to meet the requirements of Fair Oak 
Cricket Club, was highlighted as the main priority for cricket in the borough. 
The club currently has over 200 playing members, consisting of 4 men’s 
teams, 1 women’s team and a large junior section of over 120 members from 
U7 to U19s, including a girls’ team formed in 2021.  Teams from the senior 
and junior cricket sections currently have to try and find facilities outside of the 
borough due to a lack of available facilities within the borough boundary.  

5. The purpose of this Eastleigh Borough Council delivered project, in 
partnership with the landowning  Fair Oak Parish Council (FOPC),  is to 
support our communities and improve lives through the provision of sport and 
recreation facilities that align with our strategic objectives to support resident’s 
health and wellbeing. The project deliverables align with the recommendations 
for provision in this area as detailed in the Councils Playing Pitch Policy (PPS) 
and Sports Facilities Needs Assessment (2017) and will be complimentary to 
existing sports provision within the borough to meet evidenced existing and 
future demand rather than create unnecessary competition. This project is 
also detailed as a key project in the 2022/23 BIFOHH Local Area Action Plan. 

6. The desired result is to provide a second cricket wicket on Lapstone Playing 
Fields, Fair Oak, to meet long standing aspiration for a second cricket wicket 
for Fair Oak CC, as supported by the ECB, Sport England and the 
methodology of the Eastleigh PPS. This is to be achieved whilst protecting the 
continuity of provision for football teams who also currently use the site, as 
well as continuity of access for community users of the site (such as tennis, 
runners, dog walkers etc) wherever possible. 

7. Lapstone Playing Fields is owned, managed and maintained by FOPC who 
have existing hire, management and maintenance arrangements with Fair 
Oak CC for the use of the cricket facilities at the site. These arrangements will 
be extended to incorporate the new cricket wicket should it be approved.   

8. The second element to this proposed development is to extend and improve 
the existing pathway across the playing fields and through the wooded area 
on the south eastern edge of the open space. The extension to the path 
through the wooded area will eventually link up with the northern part of the 
forthcoming One Horton Heath Development, as well as creating an improved 
network of paths in the area ahead of the improvements to Quobleigh Woods 
(for which a similar report requesting funding will be forthcoming to this 
committee in the coming months for approval). 

98



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

9. A fully costed feasibility study has already been undertaken estimating a total 
project cost (inclusive of the path) of c£650,000. Funding from the north 
Stoneham Housing Development (£168,000) has already been approved for 
this project, and £219,000 front funding from One Horton Heath has also been 
allocated. Members are therefore recommended to approve the below 
developer contributions to meet the remaining shortfall and progress this 
community scheme.  

 
OSO/15/77190Drew Smith Pembers Hill Farm, Mortimers 
Lane, Fair Oak Receipt Date:20/01/2020             

OSO/15/77190Pembers LLP, Pembers Hill Farm, Mortimers 
Lane, Fair Oak Receipt Date:20/09/2021     

 

£218,525.88 

 

£51,474.12 

 

TOTAL 

 

£ 270,000.00 

 

Financial Implications 

10. The recommendations in this report can be contained within existing allocated 
and unallocated developer’s contributions.  

Risk Assessment 

11. The recommendation in this report carries a low risk to the Council and its 
partners. The main risk centres around the dangers of the cricket ball striking 
a person or property. The completed feasibility study assessed boundary 
dimensions, proximity to neighbouring infrastructure and indicative ball strike 
regions. Whilst these are considered to be safe and appropriate, additional 
ball-strike risk assessments will be undertaken to prove this and identify if any 
additional protective infrastructure should be provided (e.g. ball stop netting).   

Equality and Diversity Implications 

12. A full Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out, because 
each project individually will have due regard to equalities impacts and 
complete an impact assessment where it is proportionate to do so and prior to 
the delivery of the approved funds. 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

13. The recommendation within this report will have a low impact in regard to 
climate change.  

14. The fundamental environmental sensitivity is the requirements to fill in and 
extend a drainage culvert to enable two pitches to be delivered on site. 
Accordingly, a Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) were 

99



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

undertaken as part of the feasibility stage, as well as a Preliminary Ecological 
Assessment (PEA). The AIA identified upon receipt, that no trees with TPO’s 
were affected. As part of the Parish Council and LAC pledge however, the 
trees that are lost, will be replaced on site at a ratio of 1 to 3. The tree removal 
will also take place outside of bird nesting season (March-August), and tree 
planting should take place between November – March.    

15. Dormouse habitat surveys and Great Crested Newt (GCN) were undertaken 
and whilst the area of vegetation to be removed found no evidence of these 
species present, it is considered suitable habitat and the surrounding 
vegetation did have evidence of these species being present. Accordingly, 
licence applications will be submitted to Natural England (which have a 60-
day determination period) should planning approval be achieved.      

16. The proposed ecological mitigation measures and proposed enhancements of 
surrounding ecological habitat for dormice, great crested newts, insects, bats, 
birds, trees and pollinators will see the scheme deliver a biodiversity net-gain. 

Conclusion 

17. Councillors are requested to agree expenditure from this Committee’s 
available developer contributions. 

 

ANDREW THOMPSON 
LOCAL AREA MANAGER (BIFOHH) 

Date: 9 Mar 2022 
Contact Officer: Andrew Thompson 
Tel No: 023 8068 8357 
e-mail: andrew.thompson@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 0 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

 None. 
 

100



 

 BISHOPSTOKE, FAIR OAK & HORTON HEATH (BIFOHH) LOCAL 
AREA COMMITTEE  

Wednesday 9 March 2022  

BIFOHH LOCAL AREA ACTION PLAN 2022/23 

Report of the Local Area Manager 

 

Recommendation 

It is recommended that the Bishopstoke, Fair Oak & Horton Heath (BIFFOH) Local 
Area Action Plan (LAAP) 2022/23 shown in Appendix 1 is approved for adoption and 
publication. 
 

Summary 
 
This report presents the priorities for the coming year for the Local Area Committee.   

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence, 
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area. 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. The Council has agreed a set of Borough-wide objectives to improve 
quality of life for all. These are set out in the Corporate Plan 2015-25. 
The Council also seeks to enable decisions to be made at the most 
appropriate local level, mostly notably through the five Local Area 
Committees but also through our town and parish councils and other 
more local partnerships. This LAAP sets out how these will be 
delivered on a local level. 

Local Area Action Plan 

2. The Local Area Committee regularly approves a Community 
Investment Programme (CIP), which lists all the local projects and 
initiatives that the Local Area Committee and Parishes would like to 
deliver in the short, medium and long term. The list is used to negotiate 
section 106 contributions from developers which often form the majority 
of the funds required. These funds often need to be pooled from 
several developments over a number of years in order to achieve 
sufficient project budget. 

101

Agenda Item 12



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

3. All five Local Area Committees are now seeking to set out a shorter-
term list of priorities for the coming year and the BIFOHH priorities are 
given in Appendix 1 within the BIFOHH Local Area Action Plan 
2022/23. The Plan will be used to determine budgets and resources as 
part of the Council’s annual business planning cycle. This is also a 
public facing document and part of its purpose is transparency, 
enabling residents to understand what the committee is planning to 
achieve. 

4. Local Area and Cabinet Councillors have been consulted on the draft 
Plan and it is now recommended that the BIFOHH Local Area Action 
Plan 2022/23 is approved for adoption and publication, subject to minor 
formatting changes.  

Financial Implications 

5. The actions identified within the LAAP can be met within the existing 
budgets. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

6. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, 
or fostering good relations between different people. A full Equality 
Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out at this stage, 
however, any project will include a detailed EIA as part of the project 
management process. 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

7. The BIFOHH local area committee (LAC) is fully focused on improving 
the environment and tackling climate change. The first key priority in 
the 22/23 LAAP states the climate emergency and commits the LAC 
will ensure impacts on the environment and climate change are central 
in their thinking. This overarching priority seeks to ensure a 
wraparound commitment for every project and committee decision. 
Additional to this, as part of the project management process of each 
project, an assessment on the impact on climate change will be 
undertaken. 

 

Conclusion 

8. The report presents the draft BIFOHH Local Area Action Plan shown in 
Appendix 1 for approval. 

ANDY THOMPSON 
LOCAL AREA MANAGER 

 
Date: 9 March 2022 
Contact Officer: Andy Thompson  

102



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Tel No: 023 8068 8357 
e-mail: andrew.thompson@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 1  
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

Background Papers – Eastleigh Borough Council Corporate Plan 2015-25 

103



This page is intentionally left blank



Cllr Louise Parker-Jones 
- Local Area Chair

louise.parker-jones@eastleigh.gov.uk

Bishopstoke, Fair Oak & 
Horton Heath (BIFOHH)

Key Priorities & Projects

Council Services - Local Variations

    Priorities

 ▶ Tackling Climate Change and 
Environmental Emergency - enable 
our local community to meet the 
Borough’s goals, ensuring the 
climate and environment are central 
in every project delivered and 
decision taken. 

 ▶ Prosperity - Members will work 
tirelessly to protect the environment, 
and ensure any development has 
regard to the views and well-being 
of existing residents, communities, 
wildlife and countryside. 

 ▶ Improving Community Wellbeing - 
Maximise the delivery of community 
benefits and facilities in partnership 
with the local parish council’s, 
including the use of developer 
contributions. 

   Projects

 ▶ Memorial Hall & Glebe Meadow 
Project - Develop the feasibility 
design for the Memorial Hall and 
submit for planning approval. 

 ▶ Y Zone – Ensure smooth transition 
from internal to new external 
provider. Work with new provider  
to deliver a bold, modern, 
fit for purpose youth provision that 
targets young people most in need 
of support.

 ▶ Lapstone Farm  Cricket Provision – 
Set up project team and begin work 
to provide a second wicket on site 
for Fair Oak Cricket Club.

 ▶ Quobleigh Woods – Complete the 
transfer this  countryside asset from 
the developer and work with the 
Council’s Countryside team to bring 
the site up to standard, utilising the 
specialist inside knowledge.

 ▶ New Century Park Café & Splash 
pad – Work in partnership with  
Fair Oak & Horton Heath Parish 
Council to deliver this exciting 
community asset.

 ▶ Asset transfers – complete all 
existing asset transfers for BIFOHH 
from the developer to the Council, 
and then to the appropriate Parish 
where relevant.

 ▶ The Planney & Tree Corridor Project 
- Complete the revitalisation of the 
Planney woodland and the Tree 
Corridor project, which aims to 
tackle climate change and increase 
wildlife habitats.

 ▶ Public Art - Produce a Public Art 
Strategy for the local area, and 
deliver public art projects in a joined 
up approach, that reflect the natural 
environment and essence of the 
local villages.  

 ▶ Local Plan Team

 ▶ Direct Services 

 ▶ Corporate Communications  

 ▶ Locality Team  
(Local Engagement Officers) 

 ▶ Development Management

 ▶ Traffic Regulation Orders 

 ▶ Property Services

 ▶ Y Zone

Key Partnerships

 ▶ Bishopstoke Parish Council 

 ▶ Fair Oak & Horton Heath 
Parish Council 

 ▶ Community  
Development Officer

 ▶ BIFOHH Community  
Safety Action Group 

 ▶ Climate Emergency  
Action Group 

 ▶ Horton Heath Development 
Forum 

 ▶ Twynams 

 ▶ Y Zone

Hiltingbury
Chandler’s

Ford

Eastleigh

Bishopstoke

Horton
Heath

Fair
Oak

Bursledon

Netley

Hamble- 
le-Rice

West
End

Hedge
End

Botley

Responsibilities of the  
Local Area Committee

Responsibilities of the  
Local Area Manager 

 ▶ Champion the local area

 ▶ Decide local priorities

 ▶ Monitor local budgets

 ▶ Determine local levels of council 
services such as Streetscene and 
traffic management

 ▶ Work with the local community

 ▶ Decide planning applications

 ▶ Support local Councillors

 ▶ Work closely with Parish Councils, 
schools and community groups

 ▶ Identify local needs and priorities

 ▶ Act as a link between the Council and  
local people

 ▶ Manage the local revenue budget 
and the capital programme/major 
projects

 ▶ Work with the Council to improve 
local services and to ensure value for 
money

Andy Thompson  
- Local Area Manager
andrew.thompson@eastleigh.gov.uk    
023 8068 8357

Local Area Action Plan 
2022/23

105



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	8 Planning Application - Fieldfare, Winchester Road, Fair Oak, Eastleigh, SO50 7HD (X/21/92081)
	9 Planning Application - Land rear of Oakfields, Winchester Road, Fair Oak (F/21/90322)
	10 Planning Application - Treetops, Allington Lane, Fair Oak, Eastleigh, SO50 7DB (F/21/91132)
	11 Financial Report
	12 Local Area Action Plan
	400628 BIFOHH Local Area Action Plan 22 23 v2


